GRANULAR ACTIVATED CARBON PRETREATMENT

FOR THE

REMOVAL OF TRIHALOMETHANE PRECURSORS/

by

Karen Blake Burnett Carter,

Thesis submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Environmental Science and Engineering

APPROVED:

R. C. Hoehn, Chairman

May 1980

Blacksburg, Virginia

LD 5655 V855 1980 C317 c. Q

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

11 . 3

С Ж

> The author would like to thank Dr. Robert C. Hoehn for his support and assistance as chairman of her graduate committee. She would like to thank Dr. Thomas J. Grizzard for encouraging her to pursue graduate study and for serving on her graduate committee, and Dr. Clifford W. Randall for serving on her committee.

She would like to thank the Fairfax County Water Authority for allowing her to participate in this project and the Virginia Environmental Endowment for financial support.

Special thanks are extended to Mr. Craig Cameron and the members of the Fairfax County Water Authority Treatment Plant and Laboratory Staff for their major contribution to the completion of this work.

The author acknowledges Ann Crate for the typing of this manuscript.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

/

| | | Page |
|------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| | ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | ii |
| | LIST OF FIGURES | v |
| | LIST OF TABLES | vii |
| I. | INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| II. | LITERATURE REVIEW | 5 |
| | TRIHALOMETHANES | 5 6 7 13 13 18 21 |
| | GRANULAR ACTIVATED CARBON | 23 23 24 27 28 |
| III. | MATERIALS AND METHODS | 31 31 37 |
| | TRIHALOMETHANE FORMATION POTENTIAL | 38 |
| IV. | RESULTS | 42 43 43 53 63 63 |
| | EFFECTS OF EMPTY BED CONTACT TIME | 65 65 66 67 67 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

| | | Page |
|-------|---|----------------------------|
| | WATER QUALITY AND THMFP | 68 68 68 70 72 |
| ۷. | DISCUSSION | 73 |
| | GAC PRETREATMENT FOR TRIHALOMETHANE PRECURSOR REMOVAL | 73 |
| | WATER QUALITY AND THMFP | 79 80 |
| VI. | SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS | 82 |
| VII. | RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH | 85 |
| VIII. | LITERATURE CITED | 85 |
| | APPENDIX A: TRIHALOMETHANE CONCENTRATIONS | 93 |
| | APPENDIX B: RESULTS OF CHEMICAL, PHYSICAL, AND BIOLOGICAL ANALYSIS | 114 |
| | APPENDIX C: RESERVOIR WATER QUALITY DATA | 122 |
| | VITA | 128 |
| | ARSTRACT | |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGURE | | Page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1 | Schematic Diagram of Pilot-Scale Granular Activated Carbon Contactors | 32 |
| 2 | Total Trihalomethane (THM) Concentrations in Chlorinated Raw Water Samples After Thirty Minutes (ITHM) and Seven Days (THMFP) | 44 |
| 3 | Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) Concentrations in Chlorinated 2-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Contactor Effluent Samples After Thirty Minutes (ITHM) and Seven Days (THMFP) | 47 |
| 4 | Percent Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Total Organic Carbon (TOC) by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm Flow Rates | 49 |
| 5 | Mass of Trihalomethane Formation Potential Removed by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm with Time in Service of the Carbon Contactors | 51 |
| 6 | Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) Concentrations in Chlorinated 4-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Contractor Effluent Samples After Thirty Minutes (ITHM) and Seven Days (THMFP) | 52 |
| 7 | Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) Concentrations in Chlorinated 6-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Contactor Effluent Samples After Thirty Minutes (ITHM) and Seven Days (THMFP) | 54 |
| 8 | Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations in Raw Water and 2-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Con- tactor Effluent Samples | 56 |
| 9 | Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations in Raw Water and 4-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Con- tactor Effluent Samples | 57 |
| 10 | Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations in Raw Water and 6-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Con- tactor Effluent Samples | 58 |

LIST OF FIGURES (cont.)

| FIGURE | | Page |
|--------|--|------|
| 11 | Mass of Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Removed by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm with Time in Service of the Carbon Contactors | 61 |
| 12 | Raw Water Turbidity and Color Measurements During the Period of Operation (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 69 |
| 13 | Reservoir Algal Counts and Chlorophyll-a Concen- trations During the Period of Operation (June 27 - September 26, 1979 | 71 |
| 14 | Percent Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Instantaneous Trihalo- methanes (ITHM) by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm Flow Rates | 77 |

vi

LIST OF TABLES

•

| TABLE | | Page |
|-------|---|------|
| 1 | Specifications and Properties of Westvaco (Covington, West Virginia) Nuchar WV-G and WV-DC (After Westvaco, ref. 67 and 68) | 34 |
| 2 | Pilot-Scale Carbon Contactors, Backwashing Schedule | 36 |
| 3 | Percent Increase in Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) Concentrations in Chlorinated Raw Water and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples After Seven Days (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 45 |
| 4 | Average Instantaneous (ITHM) and Seven-Day (THMFP) in Chlorinated Raw Water and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 46 |
| 5 | Percent Reduction in Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) by GAC Contact (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 50 |
| 6 | Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations in Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 59 |
| 7 | Percent Removal of Total Organic Carbon (TOC) by GAC Contact (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 60 |
| 8 | Color Removal by GAC Contact (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 64 |
| 9 | Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Total Organic Carbon (TOC) by GAC by Weight (June 27 - September 26, 1979) | 75 |

I. INTRODUCTION

The problem of trihalomethanes (THMs) principally chloroform (CHCl₃) in drinking water was first recognized in 1974. Rook (1) in the Netherlands and Bellar <u>et al</u>. (2) in the United States published research data that showed that THMs are formed upon chlorination of natural waters (especially surface waters) and that the concentration of THMs increases with time as the water moves through the distribution system. In the same year, an EPA study of New Orleans drinking water (3) showed the presence of THMs and an array of other organic chemicals. Coincident with this was the release of an epidemeological study (4) that showed a correlation between the New Orleans water supply and a high incidence of cancer mortality in white males. This study was the acknowledged impetus for the passage of the Safe Drinking Water Act (PL93-523) in December, 1974.

To determine the significance of the New Orleans findings, the EPA initiated the National Organics Reconnaissance Survey of the water supplies of eighty cities. This confirmed the link between chlorinated surface water supplies and THMs (5). The National Organics Monitoring Survey (6) in late 1975 was initiated to study seasonal variations and the effect of various supplies and treatment processes on THM formation. In 1976 the National Cancer Institute released results of a carcinogenesis bioassay on rats and mice that showed chloroform to be an animal carcinogen (7). Human health effects of various types

are discussed in detail in the National Academy of Sciences report, "Drinking Water and Health" (8).

Mindful of the purpose and preventative nature of the Safe Drinking Water Act, and pushed along by a suit pressed in 1978 by the Environmental Defense Fund (EDF v. Costle, No. 75 2224, Feb. 10, 1978), the EPA published proposed regulations for the control of THMs and other organic contaminants in drinking water on February 9, 1978 (9). After voluminous public comment, the EPA published the regulations in their final form on November 28, 1979 (10). A maximum contaminant level (MCL) of 100 micrograms per liter (μ g/l) of total THMs (TTHM) - the sum of the concentrations of CHCl₃, CHCl₂Br, $CHC1Br_2$, and $CHBr_3$ - was established. Compliance or noncompliance of a utility with this regulation is determined on the basis of the average of four samples taken quarterly at different points in the distribution system served by the utility. A single sample with a concentration greater than 100 μ g/l is not necessarily a violation, nor is a concentration of 100 μ g/1 to be construed to mean a safe level. The MCL is based primarily, by the EPA's own admission, on technological feasibility (10).

The components of natural waters that yield THMs upon chlorination are precursor materials. Humic and fulvic acids, the products of vegetative decomposition and the constituents primarily responsible for the color of natural waters, are believed to be the major types of precursor (11). The extracellular products of algae have also been demonstrated to have great potential for THM formation (12,13).

In general, the concentrations of THMs produced can be reduced three ways:

1. use of a disinfectant other than chlorine

2. removal of THMs after they are formed

3. removal of precursor materials prior to addition of chlorine. Chlorine is firmly established for primary disinfection in public water supplies in the U.S. and an alternative with equally proven costeffectiveness is not presently available. A preventative approach to THM formation is preferable to a "clean-up" technique to remove THMs after formation.

Under a grant from the Virginia Environmental Endowment a project was undertaken jointly by the Civil Engineering Department of VPI & SU and the Fairfax County Water Authority to investigate the effect of stormwater runoff on THM concentrations in a public water supply. The raw water source is the Occoquan Reservoir, an impoundment rapidly undergoing the process of eutrophication despite measures for the control of point source pollution (14). Urban runoff is a major problem and contributes significantly to the high organic content of the reservoir (14). One of the objectives of the project was to determine the effectiveness of ancillary water treatment processes such as ozonation and granular activated carbon (GAC) contact to reduce the THM-forming potential (THMFP) of the Occoquan Reservoir water.

This study was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of GAC pretreatment for the removal of THM precursors and to relate the quality of a water prior to chlorination to its THMFP. The rationale

for a pretreatment application of carbon is that a water treatment plant could add chlorine immediately after GAC contact and prior to standard coagulation, sedimentation, filtration processes. The chlorine contact time for disinfection purposes would then be essentially no different than the plant was designed to achieve using standard prechlorination practice. In addition to assuring adequate disinfection, the problems associated with fouling of plant basins and filters could be avoided.

A pilot scale set of three GAC contactors was designed to treat raw water at flow rates of 2, 4, and 6 gallons per minute in an upflow mode. The corresponding empty bed contact times (EBCT), based on the unexpanded bed depth of 7 feet, are 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes respectively. Twice weekly for thirteen weeks (June 27, 1979-September 26, 1979) 24-hour composite samples of the influent and three column effluents were collected. The samples were analyzed for pH, color, turbidity, total organic carbon (TOC), chlorine demand, and THM formation potential (THMFP) upon chlorination, to determine the effectiveness of the carbon for removal of THM precursor materials at varying contact times. Data to evaluate the quality of the reservoir water (algae counts, chlorophyll-a, rainfall, reservoir elevation) were collected. Correlations between water quality measurements and THMFP were investigated to assess their value for predicting the applicability of granular activated carbon pretreatment to a water and their subsequent value as operational parameters.

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

TRIHALOMETHANES

Occurrence and Distribution

The discovery that chlorination of natural waters results in the formation of trihalomethanes was first reported by Rook in 1974 (1). In that same year, Bellar <u>et al</u>. (2) reported the presence of THMs in drinking water produced by chlorination of both surface and groundwater. A study revealing the presence of THMs, as well as a multitude of other organic contaminants, in the drinking water supply of New Orleans (3) and a subsequent study linking that water supply to cancer incidence (4) contributed to a growing concern about the possible health effects of various contaminants in drinking water.

Section 1442(a)(9) of the Safe Drinking Water Act (PL 93-523) specifically mandated a nationwide survey of public water supply systems and sources "to determine the nature, extent, sources of, and means of control of contamination by chemicals suspected of being carcinogenic". From this came the National Organics Monitoring Survey (NORS) of eighty U.S. cities.

The objectives of NORS were to determine how widespread the presence of THMs was in water supplies in the United States, and to evaluate the effect of the raw water source and the water treatment practices employed upon the presence and concentration of THMs (5). The study confirmed the relationship between chlorination and THM formation. The highest THM concentrations were associated with

chlorination of surface water supplies, the practice of prechlorination, and the practice of water softening. Of the four major THMs, chloroform generally was found in the highest concentrations, with concentrations of the other three decreasing with the number of bromine substitutions on the carbon atom.

Following the NORS study, EPA conducted the National Organics Monitoring Survey (NOMS) to determine the occurrence and frequency of selected contaminants to establish data upon which to base an MCL or treatment requirement (6). Compounds to be studied were selected on the basis of their possible occurrence, the existence of relevant toxicological data, and the availability of an analytical method for their determination. The possibility that concentrations of general classes of compounds might be correlated with, and so valuable as an indicator of, the occurrence of specific contaminants was investigated. It was established that raw water contamination with organic chemicals was prevalent, but not to the extent of the occurrence of THMs in finished waters. The presence of specific compounds was not found to correlate well with the general water quality parameters studied, such as TOC and carbon-chloroform extract.

Health Effects

Trihalomethanes are the subject of concern from the standpoint of public health because chloroform has been shown to be an animal carcinogen (7). The National Academy of Sciences has accepted the value of the extrapolation of animal data from carcinogenicity testing

to man (8). Bromoform (CHBr₃) produced a positive carcinogenic response in a pulmonary adenoma bioassay on mice (15). The brominated THMs were demonstrated to have mutagenic activity in a bacterial assay using <u>Salmonella</u> (16). Organic residues isolated by reverse omosis from drinking water were also found to have mutagenic activity (17).

Epidemiological data from New Orleans linked that city's drinking water with cancer incidence (3). The risk of cancer of the gastrointestinal and urinary tract were found to be greater in areas with chlorinated drinking water (18). Cancer risk is believed to be a cumulative phenomenon (8), and so it is desirable to reduce human exposure to proven or suspected carcinogens wherever possible. The way in which the results of this study were interpreted was called into question at the time it was released, and is still controversial.

Trihalomethane Formation

The major reaction between aqueous chlorine and naturally occurring organic molecules in water that produces THMs is believed by many to be the haloform reaction (19,20,21). Organic compounds capable of this reaction are those that contain acetyl (CH₃CO) groups or those, such as secondary alcohols, that may be oxidized to acetyl groups. Under alkaline conditions the hydrogens of the terminal methyl groups are successively replaced by halogen atoms. The trisubstituted carbon bonded to the carbonyl group is then cleaved to yield a haloform and a carboxylic acid. The overall reaction is (19):

$$CH_3COR + 3HOX \rightleftharpoons CX_3COR + 3H_2O$$
 [1]

$$CX_3COR + H_20 \rightleftharpoons CHX_3 + RCOOH$$
 [2]

The proposed mechanism of the haloform reaction is (19):

$$RCOCH_3 \rightarrow RC = CH_2 + H^+$$
 [3]

$$P_{RC}^{0-}$$

RC = CH₂ + HOX \Longrightarrow RCOCH₂X + OH⁻ [4]

$$RCOCH_2 X \rightleftharpoons RC = CHX + H^+$$
 [5]

$$RC = CHX + HOX \Longrightarrow RCOCHX_2 + OH^-$$
 [6]

$$RCOCHX_2 \rightleftharpoons R-C = CX_2 + H^+$$
 [7]

$$R-C = CX_2 + HOX \implies RCOCX_3 + OH^-$$
 [8]

$$\operatorname{RCOCX}_3 + \operatorname{OH}^- \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{RCOOH} + \operatorname{CX}_3^-$$
 [9]

$$CX_3^- + H^+ \rightleftharpoons CHX_3$$
 [10]

A carbanion is formed upon dissociation of a hydrogen which adds a positive halogen. This repeats on the same carbon until it is fully halogenated. Nucleophilic base attack cleaves the CX_3^- group which then adds one hydrogen to form a trihalomethane. The first ionization step, the formation of an enol (reaction 3) is rate determining (22).

When chlorine is the only available halogen, $CHCl_3$ will be the haloform produced. The most common mixed halogen haloforms $(CHCl_2Br, CHClBr_2, and CHBr_3)$ result when bromine is available in the reaction solution. Bromide may occur naturally in waters or bromine may be a contaminant of commercially distributed chlorine. When hypochlorous acid (HOC1) is added to waters containing bromide, hypobromite is formed, and this oxidized halogen enters the haloform reaction (21,23). Iodine may become similarly involved, so that in all there are ten possible trihalomethanes (23).

When bromine is available, the proportion of CHCl₃ in the total THMs formed is substantially decreased and concentrations of the bromine-substituted THMs increase (23). Bromine substitution is favored over chlorine even in the presence of excess chlorine because bromine competes more effectively for reactive sites on the organic precursors possibly as a result of a faster substitution rate (24). There is evidence that bromide influences both the reaction rate and the reaction yield, the rate being faster in the presence of bromide (25). The yield of brominated THMs is proportional to the bromide concentration in the water (26).

Reactions other than the haloform reaction may be responsible for THM formation. Chlorination of diketones results in a more rapid rate of CHCl₃ production than the haloform reaction with simple ketones (21). Meta-dihydroxy substituted organic compounds also form THMs (27). Organic compounds containing the pyrrole ring (e.g. chlorophyll) yield THMs upon chlorination (20).

Carbanions formed in the mechanism of the haloform reaction may form organics other than THMs. Chlorination of model compounds usually does not result in the maximum theoretical yeild of THMs, indicating the possible presence of partially oxidized intermediates or terminal products which may be chlorinated (20). Rook (27) produced twenty chlorinated organics from Rotterdam storage reservoir water. Many of these same compounds were reported by Glaze and Henderson (28) in chlorinated wastewater.

The kinetics of the classic haloform reaction are assumed to be zero order with respect to chlorine (22), but this assumption may not apply to complex systems such as natural waters. Research in this area has been limited and inconclusive. Trussel and Umphres (25) have reviewed the subject and proposed several possible models that incorporate chlorine residual and the concentration of precursor.

Effect of chlorine dose. The concentration of THMs formed has been shown to be dependent on a number of factors, one of which is chlorine dose. Chloroform concentration is proportional to the concentration of chlorine added up to the point where the chlorine demand of the solution is satisfied (24,29). According to Morris (19) chlorine demand is exerted during the conversion of available chlorine in solution to an inactive non-oxidizing form. Chlorine demand can provide an indirect measure of the THM-forming potential of a water because it always occurs as a result of the production of chlorinated organic chemicals (19). Chlorine demand may also

be exerted by certain inorganic compounds or elements. Chlorine in excess of demand forms a residual. Chlorine doses below those required to produce long-lasting chlorine residuals in the treated water result in substantially reduced levels of THMs (25). Excess free chlorine drives the haloform reaction far toward products (THMs) rather than various chlorinated intermediates which may be equally significant in terms of health effects and difficulty of removal (19).

Effect of reaction time. Trihalomethane concentrations have been shown to increase with increasing contact time between chlorine and precursor (11,21,29,30,31). As a result, when a free chlorine residual is maintained in the water distribution system, the reactions begun during treatment may continue so that THM concentrations will increase with increasing residence time in the system (31,32).

<u>Effect of pH</u>. The formation of THMs is strongly dependent upon pH, so that higher concentrations result at alkaline pH levels. The enolization step of the haloform reaction is facilitated by increased pH (21). In addition, the reactivity of some low molecular weight THM precursors is enhanced at higher pH levels (11). Active sites on the humic acid molecule are postulated to be more reactive at elevated pHs (11).

Because the lime softening process is carried out at an elevated pH, plants where this is practiced were shown to produce waters with especially high concentrations of THMs (5). Delaying chlorination until the pH has been readjusted to near neutral reduces THM formation

in the treatment plant (32). Morris and Baum (20) questioned the significance of this reduction, postulating that although low pH reduces THM formation, it does not stop the formation of chlorinated intermediates that only require an alkaline pH for hydrolysis.

<u>Temperature effects</u>. As is common for most chemical reactions, temperature has a profound effect on the rate of THM formation. Concentrations of THMs increase with increased temperatures (21,29). Changing temperature can partially account for the seasonal variation in THM concentrations in water supplies in which THM concentrations increase during the warmer months (11,26). Hoehn and Randall (33) found THM concentration to be inconsistent with temperature in a two-year study of the Occoquan Watershed, concluding that seasonal variation is dependant on a more complex set of factors, and that temperature effects may not only be associated with reaction rate.

Effect of precursor concentration. The concentration of THMs produced is also a function of the concentration of available precursor materials, which themselves vary seasonally (11,26). Chloroform concentration has been shown to be dependent to a degree upon precursor concentration (2,21), and it has been suggested that the organic content of the raw water may be the critical factor determining THMFP, provided the available chlorine is not limited (21).

An ideal method for measuring precursor concentration has not been found. In several studies, TOC concentrations were found to correlate well with THMFP (20,21), but other investigators (33) have failed to establish this relationship. Hoehn and Randall

(33) concluded that the more significant variable may be precursor type.

Methods for the Removal of Trihalomethanes

Trihalomethanes can be removed from water after they have been formed. This can be effected using adsorption on activated carbon or resins, oxidation with ozone (0_3) , or aeration. Prohibitively expensive doses of powdered activated carbon (34) and ozone (34,35) have been shown to be required to achieve even partial removals of chloroform and other THMs. Aeration will remove as much as 90 percent of the THM concentration (34,36) but if a chlorine residual is maintained in the water leaving the treatment plant, the reaction will continue and THM concentrations will increase (37). THMs can be removed by resin adsorption, but these resins are too selective for more general treatment uses (38).

Granular activated carbon adsorption will remove THMs very effectively, but the capacity of the bed is quickly exhausted. Chloroform is the least well removed of the four THMs (39), the carbon's capacity being exhausted in as little as three weeks (21). GAC will also remove a broad spectrum of organic material and so has a more general application in water treatment. None of these methods is ideal, suggesting that the best approach to THM reduction is precursor removal to prevent their formation.

Trihalomethane Precursors

Humic substances in natural waters were first suggested as trihalomethane precursors by Rook (1). Since that time, research has shown that various types of organic molecules found in natural waters will yield chloroform. Oliver and Lawrence (40) demonstrated that in addition to humic substances, sulfonated lignins, tannins, and phenolic compounds are precursors to THMs. Lower molecular weight organics containing acetyl groups were shown by Morris and Baum (20) to react with chlorine to yield chloroform. They also demonstrated that compounds containing the pyrrole ring (e.g. chlorophyll) and heterocyclic pigments (acetogenins) form chloroform upon reaction with chlorine. Algal metabolites and biomass have been shown to produce high yields of chloroform (12,13) and the chlorophyll-a concentration of natural water has been shown to correlate well with THM production (41).

Only a small fraction of the organic content of natural waters has been fully characterized. The majority of research has centered on low molecular weight, toxic chemicals and on organics responsible for tastes and odors in water. Macromolecules such as humic acids, polysaccharides, and proteins comprise the major portion of the organic material found in natural waters (42).

The primary source of organic matter is plant material. From this common source arises a great variety of compounds. The biological processes of plants produce synthetic units, metabolic intermediates, and end products, while the decomposition of plant material releases even more organic molecules to the water.

<u>Humic substances</u>. Humic substances are products of vegetative decomposition. They may be leached from the soil or introduced

directly into the water from decay of aquatic plants or floating leaves and debris. Humic substances have been divided into three major categories: humic acids, fulvic acids, and hymatomelanic acids. These biologically resistant compounds, which differ in molecular size and solubility characteristics, are suggested sources of color in natural water (43).

Single compounds that make up the organic color of natural water were isolated and found to be very similar to the degradation products of "color solids" and the water soluble components of wood and soil (43). The relationship between color in natural waters and leaching of soil and forest debris was demonstrated by Sylvester <u>et al</u>. (44). The chlorine demond of a raw water was found to be proportional to its color, a result that suggests that color-imparting organics are precursors for chlorinated organics (45). Rook (21) found that storage of raw water containing high concentrations of humic substances did not decrease the THM-forming potential of that water, which suggests a biologically resistant precursor for THMs in the water he studied.

Humic substances can be chemically classified as polyhydroxymethoxy carboxylic acids, and their oxidation products include α , β -dihydroxy or α -dihydroxy ketone configurations (46) characteristic of molecules that undergo the haloform reaction (20). Color in natural waters exists in large part as a colloidal suspension, and humic acids are likely to be associated with particulate matter.

Stevens <u>et al</u>. (11) demonstrated that THM formation reaction rates were similar in humic acid solutions and raw waters. This further confirmed the suggestion that naturally occurring humic substances are the precursors of trihalomethanes in surface water supplies.

Low molecular weight precursors. Low molecular weight organics containing the acetyl moiety can contribute to the THM-forming potential of a water. The extent of the participation of these compounds is critically pH-dependent. Stevens <u>et al</u>. (11) found that at pH 6.5, acetone was not a significant source of THM production but was important as a precursor at pH 11.5. They suggested that in a natural water both humic substances and low molecular weight materials are important precursors but that their relative contributions will be a function of pH.

<u>Algal precursors</u>. Both algal biomass and the extracellular products (ECP) of algae have been demonstrated to yield THMs upon chlorination (12,13). Algal ECP consists of soluble materials, metabolic intermediates and end products, that are released from living and intact algal cells. ECP was found to be a more significant precursor source than algal biomass, and chloroform yields from both groups were comparable to yields from humic substances (12,13). Chlorination of algal cultures yielded the highest levels of THMs when the cultures were in the exponential growth phase (12,13). Concentrations of chlorophyll, a common measure of algal activity in natural waters, were found by Hoehn <u>et al</u>. (41,47) to correlate well with THM production in the warmer months of 1975.

These authors suggested that humic substances are responsible for baseline levels of THMs produced all year, and that algae can be responsible for some of the seasonal increases observed in THMFP of surface waters.

Seasonal variation. The organic content of natural waters is derived from both allochthonous (from outside) and autochthonous (from within the aquatic system) sources, and so is subject to variation in the contribution of each source. Allochthonous organic material leached from soil and contributed by runoff will vary with rainfall (48). Autochthonous organic material produced by algae and other aquatic plants is subject to the variation in their growth cycles (48). Algal activity varies seasonally with a myriad of water characteristics such as pH, dissolved oxygen, temperature, and nutrient availability (48). Rainfall, and subsequent runoff, can contribute substantial amounts of nutrients (phosphorous and nitrogen) to a water supply (33). Short-term and seasonal variations in organic content result from environmental and biological changes in a highly complex system that make the organic materials present at any given time difficult to characterize or predict.

<u>Measurement of precursors</u>. In 1959, Wilson (49) predicted that due to the diversity of functional groups that characterize the organic components of natural waters, specific chemical tests for them were not likely to be developed. Presently, in large measure, this prediction has been borne out. Methods for the characterization

of organic compounds in natural waters are largely for general groups or classes of compounds. The NORS study (5) investigated the use of non-purgeable total organic carbon concentration (NPTOC: the fraction of TOC remaining after acidification and CO_2 removal), ultraviolet (UV) absorbance, and fluorescence as surrogate indicators of the concentrations of THM precursors. Statistical analysis of the data generated in this study showed each to be a poor predictor. Although values for the three measurements were found to increase and decrease as did the THM concentrations, the percent of the variation in THM levels that could be explained using them was small. TOC has been used to measure organic content in studies of THM precursors (12,25), perhaps for lack of a more reliable or available method of measurement, with fairly good results. Humic substances can be a large fraction of the TOC in natural water (42). Color measurements have also been used because humic substances are largely responsible for color of natural waters (50). A large number of researchers have used THMFP as an indirect measure of available precursor concentrations (12,24,29,41,51,52,53). The problem with this measurement is that its determination requires seven days to complete and so is of no value as a predictive parameter or for operational purposes to control THM production by treatment modification.

Methods for Removal of Precursors

Organic compounds responsible for THM formation may be removed to varying degrees from water prior to chlorination by four basic

methods. Direct filtration treatment may be applied to low-turbidity waters. Coagulation with metal salts or polyelectrolytes removes organic material and turbidity. Chemical oxidation of precursor substances can reduce the THMFP of a water. Organic compounds may also be removed from water by carbon or resin adsorption.

Direct filtration. Application of this process to waters with low turbidity can be very effective in turbidity and color removal. Edzwald (51) investigated the effectiveness of this method on waters with different sources of organic content. Water from a lake whose primary source of organic matter was allochthonous was spiked with additional humic substances and tested for THMFP. Direct filtration was able to reduce the THMFP to the level of that of the unspiked water containing primarily lower molecular weight organic substances. This suggested that other treatment methods were needed for removal of these low molecular weight precursors. A water whose organic content was primarily autochthonous (from algae and aquatic vegetation) had a much higher THMFP, and direct filtration removal only 33-55 percent of the available precursors. Color removal was good in this case, which points to substances other than humic acids as precursors.

<u>Coagulation</u>. Several investigators have evaluated chemical coagulation as a method for precursor removal (29,35,40,51,53,54). Alum (aluminum sulfate) was found to effect removal not only of TOC in general, but also of selective portions of the TOC responsible for THMFP (29,40,53). Cationic polyelectrolytes were shown to

coagulate humic substances by Edzwald (51), who suggested that polyelectrolytes probably would not remove the lower molecular weight precursors unless the precursors have specific functional groups to interact with the cationic functional groups of the polymer.

Oxidation. Chemical oxidants other than chlorine can help to reduce concentrations of THM precursors. Potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) was 100 percent effective for removal of THMFP from solutions of model compounds (resorcinol, metadihydroxybenzoic acid) but only slightly (10-20 percent) effective on water from the Ohio River (24). Ozone oxidation has been shown to achieve variable degrees of THMFP reduction (21,25). Rook (21) postulated that this variation was due to the time between ozonation and chlorination of the water because ozonation produced an unstable intermediate that would not react with chlorine if it was not given sufficient time to decompose. Chlorine dioxide was demonstrated to be marginally effective in reducing THMFP (55).

Adsorption. Adsorption is perhaps the most promising method for removal of THM precursors. Several types of synthetic resin adsorbents have been demonstrated to be capable of precursor removal (56), but they pose problems with the chemical and waste disposal costs of regeneration. Powdered activated carbon (PAC) was unable to completely remove THMFP, but Symons and Stevens (52) suggest that PAC may be the solution to the THM problem where the THMFP of the water is only slightly in excess of the MCL. Granular activated carbon has been demonstrated to provide excellent precursor removal, proportional

to the EBCT, but the capacity of the bed is limited and would require periodic regeneration (52).

Measurement of Trihalomethanes

Trihalomethanes are analyzed in water samples by gas chromatography (GC), a method for the separation, identification, and quantification of the components in a mixture. Because trihalomethanes are volatile and only slightly soluble in water, they may be removed from the water for analysis by stripping with a gas or by extraction into a solvent. An aliquot of the mixture thus removed is volatilized in the injection port of the gas chromatograph and carried by a controlled flow of an inert carrier gas (such as N_2 or Ar/CH_4) through a column where the mixture is separated by the column packing material.

Various column packing materials may be used. Commercially available materials have been manufactured for different applications and may be quite specific as to the mixtures they are capable of separating. Column packing materials appear powdery but are actually spherical, solid-support material coated with a liquid. As the molecules of the mixture are forced over and between these particles in the column, they are selectively retarded based upon a number of properties, one of which is their solubility in the liquid phase. The more soluble the component of the mixture, the longer it is held on the column.

Carrier gas flow elutes each component from the column at a separate time that is proportional to its retention in the column, the retention time (t_R) . Retention time is a characteristic of

the individual compound of the mixture and is used to identify the eluting component.

From the column, each component separated from the mixture passes through a detector which detects the presence and the amount of the substance eluting. Two types of detectors are commonly used: the flame ionization dector (FID), and the electron capture detector (ECD). The ECD is preferred because it is sensitive to lower concentrations of THMs; those that are commonly found in drinking water are in the $\mu g/l$ range.

The ECD contains a radioactive source which is continuously bombarding the carrier gas molecules as they pass, knocking electrons from the carrier gas molecule and producing an electrical current. As the component molecules pass through this electron stream, they interrupt the flow of electrons. This interference in the current is detected, amplified, and the signal activates a strip chart recorder.

The recorder receives a constant electrical signal from the detector when no component is eluting. This is recorded on a chart as a relatively straight line, the baseline. When the current is interrupted a peak results on the chart. The area under the peak is proportional to the degree of interference in the current, and to the amount of the component present in the mixture that produced the interference.

The peaks, valleys and baseline produced on the chart are known as a "chromatogram". Components may be identified by the time between

the midpoint of their peak and the time of injection of the mixture, t_R . The area under each curve on the chromatogram may be manually calculated or integrated by computer. Comparison of the area of the sample peak to that produced by a standard solution of known concentration is used to determine the concentration of the component in the original water sample. For a review of the fundamentals of gas chromatography, the reader is referred to <u>Basic Gas Chromatography</u> by McNair and Bonelli (57).

The EPA has developed specific procedures for the analysis of THMs in water samples that are required for use in monitoring programs for compliance with the MCL (10).

GRANULAR ACTIVATED CARBON

Activated carbon is carbon that has been treated by a controlled oxidation process designed to produce a porous structure with a large surface area. Adsorption is a surface phenomenon, and the area and condition of the carbon surface will affect the carbon's capacity for adsorption. When this capacity is reached, the activated carbon may be regenerated and reused. Although activated carbon has been used for many years in water treatment, removal of THM precursors and other organics from drinking water is a relatively new application.

Activation and Regeneration

Granular activated carbon is manufactured primarily from petroleum coke, bituminous coal, and lignite. GAC can also be

produced from cocoanut shells. The activation process has been reviewed by McGuire and Suffet (58). The raw material is dehydrated at 170°C. It then goes through a slow, stepwise, heat process of carbonization in the absence of oxygen. In the first stage, some of the carbonaceous material is driven off as carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, and acetic acid. At temperatures of 270-280°C the second stage is carried out with decomposition byproducts such as tar and methanol. Carbonization is completed at temperatures of 400-600°C.

Decomposition products of the carbonization process are burned away in the presence of steam at 750-950°C. This procedure also clears the pore openings in the carbon. Activation is completed by the burning of amorphous carbon from the pores by continued application of steam and heat (to 950°C). The resultant product is carbon with a complex pore structure.

Regeneration is a very similar process involving steam and heat. The carbon is dried at 100°C to remove water and volatile substances. At 650-750°C, other adsorbed organics are pyrolyzed. The carbon surface is activated at 870-890°C with steam and controlled oxygen to burn the pyrolysis char from the carbon pores.

Adsorption Efficiency

Adsorbent characteristics. The raw materials and the process used to manufacture GAC determine its adsorption efficiency. The resulting carbon product has a microcrystalline structure of parallel graphite planes. These planes are stacked but their structure is unordered (59). Complete layers of fused carbon rings

are burned away, forming micropores. At the carbon surface of the walls of these micropores are located the adsorption sites (60). The structural characteristics that determine adsorptive efficiency are surface area and pore structure, the presence of surface oxides, and surface polarity, particle size, and hardness of the carbon.

The adsorptive capacity of a carbon is directly proportional to the carbon's surface area because adsorption is a surface phenomenon. Pore structure influences both the capacity and rate of adsorption. A balanced distribution of pore sizes is desirable for adsorption of the broadest size range of organics to be adsorbed. When this is the case, the rate of adsorption is generally higher (58).

Oxidized functional groups on the carbon surface change the surface polarity and reduce the adsorptive capacity. The pore surface of virgin carbon is nonpolar and has a high affinity for organic substances. Portions of the surface become polar when oxidized by ozone, chlorine, permanganate, or oxygen. Water is strongly adsorbed in these areas, constricting and blocking pore openings and reducing adsorption (61). In column studies, the adsorptive capacity of activated carbon decreased markedly as reduced chlorine adsorbed to the surface increased (36).

Surface area is a function of particle size. As particle size decreases, surface area is increased. Adsorption rate, in turn, is affected by particle size, increasing proportionally to the inverse of the square root of the particle diameter (62).

The hardness of activated carbon is an important structural characteristic from an economic standpoint. The ability of the carbon to withstand abrasion during backwashing and regeneration is related to the hardness. Carbon fines produced by abrasion can result in significant losses of carbon during the operational life of a column (58).

Adsorbate characteristics. A classification of the adsorbability of organic compounds based upon some characteristic such as molecular weight, functional groups, or solubility in water would be useful. Efforts to develop such a classification have met with little success. Aqueous solubility of organics provides the basis for the best general classification scheme (58). A major difficulty is the enormous variety of organic compounds in water, only 10-20 percent of which have been isolated by analytical techniques (63). Use of surrogate group measurements of organics such as NPTOC, total organic chlorine (TOC1), ultraviolet adsorbance at 254 nanometers (nm), chemical oxygen demand (COD), and fluorescence have been investigated for their relation to carbon adsorption. Only a few specific compounds have shown break-through patterns that correlate with those of the surrogate measurements (58).

Aqueous system characteristics. Temperature, pH, and the presence of dissolved solids or competing organic compounds in solution can effect adsorption. Adsorption is an exothermic process so that while adsorption capacity decreases with an increase in temperature (59), the rate of adsorption increases with temperature (62). These antagonistic effects tend to offset one another so that unless

temperature fluctuations are drastic, there is little net effect (62). Dissolved solids concentration and pH do not effect adsorption of most organic compounds in water of health significance because such compounds are primarily neutral molecules (58). The presence of a variety of organic compounds in solution can result in competition between compounds for adsorptive sites on carbon (64). This "chromatographic effect" was found to be significant in full scale operation of activated carbon columns when the applied water contained a great variety of organic compounds of differing affinity for carbon (36).

Adsorption Models

A number of mathematical models has been developed and applied to adsorption processes in an attempt to describe them quantitatively. McGuire and Suffet (58) have reviewed these for comparison. McGuire <u>et al</u>. (36) applied the Net Adsorption Energy model (NAE) to carbon adsorption and were able to correlate the amount of a compound adsorbed to its NAE. Interactions of three types of affinities involved in the complex process are described by this model: affinity of the solute for the adsorbent surface, affinity of the solute for the solvent, and affinity of the solvent for the adsorbent. The NAE of a compound is a function of these dispersion components, as well as molecular weight, density, and aqueous solubility of the compounds.

The kinetics of adsorption have been described by classic zero-, first-, and second-order models only with limited success (62). A second-order, reversible model was applied by Ishizaki and Cookson (65). They found a good fit with this model, showing that an

increase in surface oxides on the carbon decreased the rate of adsorption of selected compounds.

Applications in Water Treatment

Granular activated carbon is applied in drinking water treatment in the United States primarily for control of tastes and odors caused by organic substances. Experience with GAC for general or specific organic removal applications is largely European. GAC is used in columns or beds for continuous removal of organics, and allows higher adsorptive capacity than single applications of PAC and easier process control. Application in the granular form also facilitates removal of carbon for regeneration purposes.

GAC is most commonly incorporated into a water treatment scheme as replacement media in a rapid sand filter. Applied in this manner it can be effective for periods of years for taste and odor control (34). Experience with GAC contact for taste and odor control has limited value to applications for the control of THMs or their precursors. At seven of eight treatment plants using GAC as a filter/adsorber studied in NORS, the carbon was exhausted for removal of NVTOC and THMFP while still efficiently removing taste and odor (5). Fresh carbon added at one of the plants surveyed showed efficient removals of NVTOC and THMFP.

GAC will remove THMs from water effectively, but only for limited periods. Rook (21) showed a breakthrough in CHCl₃ from a carbon column after only seven days with twelve minutes EBCT.
Chloroform was reduced in Cincinnati tap water by at least 90 percent after three weeks when the EBCT was ten minutes (35). Bed life of carbon is slightly longer for removal of trihalomethanes other than CHCl₃ (39). The frequency of regeneration required if GAC is applied for THM removal would make this treatment technique prohibitively expensive for most waters.

GAC contact appears promising for the removal of THM precursors. Symons and Clark (39) reported THMFP (2-day) reductions of nearly 100 percent by carbon contact even after the carbon had been in service six months. McCreary and Snoeyink (66) showed that GAC would adsorb humic and fulvic acids, but the adsorption capacity and the extent of competitive adsorption varied with organic substances from different sources. Herzing (67) found that the type of carbon used and the type of natural organics in the water determined the extent of TOC removal by GAC. These variations in effectiveness of different carbons on different waters demonstrate the necessity of experimentation at each treatment plant to determine the optimum carbon and operating conditions for the water to be treated.

GAC applied as a sand replacement adsorber reduced the THMFP of a water to less than the MCL for nearly four and ten weeks at EBCTs of 6.5 and 24 minutes, respectively (51). Initially, precursor removal was nearly complete but decreased steadily with time in service. McCreary and Snoeyink (66) suggested that clarification preceding GAC contact helps reduce organic loading and extends bed life. Prior turbidity removal is important if the

GAC contactors are operated also as filters in the downflow mode to keep head loss to a minimum.

A discussion of the literature concerning the application of GAC as a pretreatment operation would be appropriate here. The literature reviewed, however, did not report the use of GAC in this application. In the study reported in this thesis, raw water was pretreated with GAC in an upflow mode to remove organic material by adsorption rather than by filtration.

III. MATERIALS AND METHODS

This project was intended to evaluate the effectiveness of granular activated carbon contact as a pretreatment for the removal of trihalomethane precursor materials, and to attempt to correlate trihalomethane formation potential to raw water quality. Three pilot-scale carbon contactors were operated in the upflow mode at two, four, and six gallons per minute (gpm) flow rates to treat raw water over a thirteen week period. Twice weekly, 24-hour composite samples of influent and effluent water were collected and analyzed for pH, turbidity, color, threshold odor number (TON), TOC, and THMFP. Once a week samples were analyzed for bacteriological quality and chlorine demand. Over the period of the project, the water quality in the Occoquan Reservoir was evaluated in terms of algae counts and chlorophyll-a concentration. Rainfall and reservoir elevation data were collected over the project period.

Pilot-Scale Carbon Contractors

Figure 1 is a schematic diagram of the pilot-scale carbon contactors and the associated piping and pumps. The contactors were constructed from 13 foot sections of one-foot diameter asbestoscement pipe. All piping and pumps in contact with influent water were brass or copper to minimize organic contamination. Polyvinyl chloride piping was used to collect the discharge for disposal.

Each column was filled with seven feet of GAC: 3.5 feet of Westvaco (Covington, West Virginia) Nuchar WV-G (12x40 mesh) below



Figure 1. Schematic Diagram of Pilot-Scale Granular Activated Carbon Contactors

3.5 feet of Nuchar WV-DC (10x25 mesh). Two feet of gravel supported the carbon media and distributed the influent water. The columns had four feet of freeboard above the level of the unexpanded bed. The effluent pipe was located three feet above the unexpanded bed.

Nuchar WV-G is described by the manufacturer (68) as a hard carbon produced from bituminous coal and posessing a wide range of pore sizes. Pore sizes are predominantly transitional and macropores, making the carbon suitable for adsorption of both low- and high-molecular weight organics. Nuchar WV-DC (69) is a low density carbon with a large surface area and pore volume, especially suited for removal of large molecular weight organics. Table 1 lists the specifications and properties of both carbons.

Initially, the flow to the columns was controlled with a rotometer and globe valves. Clogging of the globe valves with sediment from the raw water necessitated a change to needle valves later in the project. Flow rates were measured using a bucket and stopwatch at regular intervals in conjunction with the sampling program.

The three columns were operated at hydraulic loadings of two, four, and six gpm, respectively. The corresponding EBCT's were 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes. The resulting bed expansions were 1.8, 2.0, and 2.6 percent. The columns were operated commencing June 26, 1979 and were taken out of service to be recharged on September 27, 1979.

An inadequate water supply provided by pumps used at start-up resulted in complete shutdown of Column 3 (6 gpm) from July 1

| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | WV-G | WV-DC |
|--|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Iodine Number (mg/g) | 1050 min | 850 min |
| Particle Size (U.S. Sieve Series) Oversize (%) Undersize (%) | 12x40 8.0 max 5.0 max | 10x25 8.0 max 5.0 max |
| Surface Area (Nitrogen BET Method) (m ² /g) | 1100 min | 1500-1700 |
| Apparent density (Kg/m ³) | 433-465 | 240-288 |
| Bed Density, Backwashed and Settled (Kg/m ³) | 385-417 | 208-256 |
| Mean Particle Diameter (mm) | 0.90-1.20 | 1.1-1.4 |
| Total Pore Volume (cm ³ /g) | | 2.0-2.3 |

| TABLE 1. | Specifications and Properties of Westvaco |
|----------|--|
| | (Covington, West Virginia) Nuchar WV-G and |
| | WV-DC (Alter Westvaco, ret. 67 and 68) |

through July 13, when a new booster pump was installed. During this period, however, Columns 1 and 2 continued to operate.

The columns were backwashed 45 minutes each with filtered, dechlorinated finished water from the treatment plant on four occasions near the end of the period of operation as described in Table 2. This procedure failed to be effective in extending the bed life and the columns were taken out of service.

Sampling program. Twice each week, 24-hour composite samples of the influent raw water and the effluent from each of the three contactors were collected. Beginning at 8 a.m., 250 milliliters (ml) of each sample was collected in a glass bottle every four hours until 4 a.m. the following morning. These six samples comprised the 24hour composite for each sampling point, a total of 1.5 liters (L). Upon collection, the 250-ml samples were transferred to 2-L stoppered glass reagent bottles, one for each of the four sample points, and refrigerated. At each sampling time, prior to collection, the rate of flow of each contactor was checked and adjusted if necessary. The raw water sample line was flushed before the samples were collected. At 8 a.m. the first sampling day of each week, a bacteriological sample was collected for standard plate count (SPC) and total coliform analyses. Sampling and storage of this sample was carried out as described in Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 14th ed. (70). Samples for physical and chemical analyses were allowed to come to room temperature prior to analysis.

| Date | Column No. | Rate (gpm) | Duration (min) |
|---------|------------|------------|----------------|
| 9/4/79 | 1 | 1-8 | 45 |
| | 2 | 1-9 | 45 |
| | 3 | 1-10 | 45 |
| 9/13/79 | 1 | 4-8 | 45 |
| | 2 | 4-8 | 45 |
| | 3 | 4-9 | 45 |
| 9/21/79 | 1 | 4-9 | 45 |
| | 2 | 4-9 | 45 |
| | 3 | 4-9 | 45 |
| 9/26/79 | 1 | 4-10 | 45 |
| | 2 | 4-10 | 45 |
| | 3 | 4-10 | 45 |

TABLE 2. Pilot-Scale Carbon Contactors, Backwashing Schedule

General Physical, Chemical, and Biological Analyses

<u>pH</u>. Samples were analyzed for pH using a specific ion electrode as described in Standard Methods, method 424.

<u>Color</u>. The visual comparison method with platinum cobalt standards, method 204A, from <u>Standard Methods</u> was performed on samples that were first centrifuged for 15 minutes to remove turbidity so that a determination of true color was made.

<u>Turbidity</u>. Method 214A, the nephelometric method, described in Standard Methods was used.

<u>T.O.N.</u> Threshold odor number was determined according to method 206 from <u>Standard Methods</u>.

<u>T.O.C.</u> Total organic carbon was measured using the Dohrmann/ Envirotech (Santa Clara, California) DC-54 Ultra Low Level Total Organic Carbon Analyzer System, designed for samples containing less than 10 mg/l carbon. Each sample was mixed with a solution of phosphoric acid and potassium persulfate. The instrument purges the sample with helium which carries CO_2 and the purgeable organic carbon (POC) through a CO_2 scrubber where the CO_2 is removed. The POC is pyrolyzed by a hydrogen-enriched nickel catalyst which reduces it to methane. The methane is detected by flame ionization and read from a digital display as mg/l carbon. The water sample containing the nonpurgeable organic carbon (NPOC) is driven through an ultraviolet reaction coil which completes the oxidation to CO_2 . This CO_2 is converted to methane and detected as previously described (71). All samples were analyzed at least twice and the average result reported.

<u>Bacteriological quality</u>. Samples for standard plate count and total coliforms were analyzed as outlined in <u>Standard Methods</u>, methods 907 and 909A, respectively.

<u>Chlorine demand</u>. Methods 410 and 409C (amperometric titration) in <u>Standard Methods</u> were used to analyze for chlorine demand. An initial chlorine dose of 25 mg/l was used, and the residual was determined after a 30 minute contact time.

<u>Raw Water Algae Counts</u>. Samples were shaken and an aliquot withdrawn and placed in a Sedgwick-Rafter cell. Identification and enumeration were done under a light microscope and reported as algae per ml.

<u>Chlorophyll-a</u>. Chlorophyll-a determinations were made using the trichromatic technique described in section 1002G of Standard Methods.

Trihalomethane Formation Potential

Sample Preparation

<u>Glassware</u>. Water samples to be analyzed for THMFP were not permitted to contact containers other than glass. All reagents used were stored in and pipetted with glass. Large pieces of glassware such as beakers, reagent bottles and flasks - were washed with Alconox soap, rinsed once with tap water, twice with product water from a Milli-Q system (Millipore Corporation, Bedford, Mass.) and dried at 105°C for one hour. Smaller glassware such as hypovials, extraction vials, and pipettes were washed with soap and rinsed, then soaked in acid, rinsed well with Milli-Q product water, and burned in a muffle furnace at 430°C for 60 minutes. Caps and seals that could not be placed in a muffle furnace were boiled in Milli-Q product water five minutes and dried for one hour at 105°C. Syringes for use in gas chromatography analyses were rinsed with high-purity solvent and then with sample before injections.

<u>Sample chlorination</u>. A 500-ml portion of each sample was measured and poured into a 1-L Erlenmeyer flask with a ground-glass stopper. To each flask was added an aliquot of a concentrated chlorine solution obtained from the treatment plant chlorinator. The solution was prepared by bubbling chlorine gas through plant effluent water. The strength of this chlorine solution was determined immediately before use by potassium iodide addition and titration with sodium thiosulfate according to the same procedure specified previously for chlorine demand.

Chlorine solution was added to each sample to obtain a 25 mg/l concentration initially. Chlorine demand testing indicated that 25 mg/l would provide a residual after seven days allowing the reaction to go to completion. The samples were mixed and placed in the dark at room temperature for thirty minutes. After this period, a 50-ml glass hypovial was filled with sample. To each was added three drops of a concentrated (4N) sodium sulfite solution to dechlorinate the sample and arrest THM formation. These samples dechlorinated after 30 minutes were then analyzed for trihalomethanes,

and reported as instantaneous THMs (ITHM). The remainder of the chlorinated samples were sealed in hypovials with teflon seals and aluminum caps and stored at room temperature in the dark for formation potential analysis after one, two, four, and seven days. The residual chlorine in each sample was determined by the DPD colorimetric method (72) at the time of the analysis.

Extraction. At the time of analysis all samples were dechlorinated with sodium sulfite prior to extraction. The extraction procedure was a modification of that of Glaze and Rawley (73). To 1 ml of high purity (Fisher Spectrograde) n-pentane in a 7-ml, screw-cap extraction hypovial with a Teflon seal was added 5 ml of the sample. The mixture was shaken vigorously by hand for one minute then allowed to stand undisturbed for a few minutes to allow separation of the layers.

Sample Analysis

A 2- μ aliquot of the solvent layer in each sample extraction vial was withdrawn using a microsyringe and analyzed by gas chromatography using a modification of the method of Glaze and Rawley (73). The instrument used was a Perkin Elmer Model 900 gas chromatograph equipped with a ⁶³Ni electron capture detector (ECD). Instrument settings and conditions were as follows:

> Injection port temperature - 200°C Column - 3% FFAP on Gas Chrom Q, 80/100 mesh Oven temperature - 90°C Carrier gas - Ar/CH_A @ 60 ml/min

Manifold temperature - 200°C Detector temperature - 250°C

Components eluting were identified by comparison of retention times with those of standard solutions of each of the four THMs. Concentrations were calculated based on the response of a standard solution (prepared by volumetric dilution of each of the pure THMs into methanol and serial dilution in pentane) of all four THMs. А Columbia Scientific (Austin, Texas) computing integrator (Supergator-3) was used to integrate the area under the peaks in the chromatogram, perform the calculations, and report the final concentrations in $\mu q/1$. The chromatogram was produced on a model 3047 Yokagowa (Tokyo, Japan) strip chart recorder. The response of the ECD over a range of 0-500 μ g/l of trihalomethanes was measured and a standard curve developed. The curve was sigmoid, showing the linear range of the detector to be 10-300 μ g/l, gradually falling off to horizontal above 300 μ g/l. Accuracy of the method was determined to be within the acceptable limits suggested by the EPA Quality Assurance program (Municipal Environmental Research Laboratory, Cincinnati, On several occasions the samples were extracted and analyzed Ohio). in replicate and were reproducible within a range of + 2 percent.

IV. RESULTS

Data collected during this study were intended to answer the following three questions:

- How effective is GAC pretreatment for removal of trihalomethane precursors?
- How does this effectiveness vary with EBCT?
- 3. What correlations exist between measures of raw water quality and THMFP and can these characteristics be used as operational parameters for GAC pretreatment to indicate potential problem levels of THMs in the finished water?

Because the GAC columns were operated as upflow contactors, the organic materials removed were primarily soluble rather than particulate. The data represent the removal of soluble precursors more so than precursors associated with suspended particles in the water so that the relative importance of these two sources is reflected in the results.

While not an objective of the study, data were collected to evaluate the benefits of carbon pretreatment in terms of odor control and to assess the microbiological activity associated with GAC. Data presented in Table B6 show that GAC was effective in most instances for reducing odor. The efficiency of odor removal did not vary consistently as a function of flow rate. Data in Table B7 indicate that the GAC did support a community of bacteria and that bacterial counts in the effluent from the columns were in most cases as great or greater than those in the raw water.

TRIHALOMETHANE PRECURSOR REMOVAL

Trihalomethane Formation Potential

THMFP was used in this study as an indirect measure of the concentration of THM precursors in the water samples. Appendix A contains the results of these analyses.

<u>Raw water samples</u>. Figure 2 illustrates the ITHM and THMFP concentrations in chlorinated raw water samples. It can be seen that these concentrations remained fairly consistent during the period of the study. The relative proportions of ITHM and THMFP are summarized in Table 3. Raw water ITHM concentrations ranged from 80 µg/l to 159 µg/l, and the mean value was 106 µg/l. Raw water THMFP was an average of 45 percent more than the raw water ITHM and ranged from 158 µg/l to 257 µg/l, the mean value being 209 µg/l. Two peaks are most evident in the graph of raw water THMFP (Figure 2), occurring at days 75 through 78, and days 85 through 89. Three other noticable increases correspond to days 33, 50, and 57. The correlation between these peaks and other water quality and hydrologic factors will be addressed later. Corresponding increases in raw water ITHM were not as pronounced.

<u>Two-gpm contactor effluent</u>. Table 4 summarizes the ITHM and THMFP data for the chlorinated raw water influent and the effluent of the 2-gpm GAC contactor. The THM concentrations produced upon chlorination of the effluent from the 2-gpm contactor are illustrated in Figure 3. Both ITHM and THMFP increased with time in service of the carbon contactor, approaching the corresponding raw water THMFP



| TABLE 3 | Percent Increase in Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) |
|---------|---|
| | Concentrations in Chlorinated Raw Water and GAC |
| | Contactor Effluent Samples After Seven Days |
| | (June 27 - September 26, 1979) |

| | (1- <u>Instantaneo</u> 7-Day | <u>us TTHM</u>) TTHM | x 100 |
|----------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------|
| Sample | Mean | Standard | Deviation |
| Raw | 45.1 | 17. | .3 |
| 2-gpm Effluent | 63.5 | 21. | .9 |
| 4-gpm Effluent | 53.7 | 19. | .5 |
| 6-gpm Effluent | 51.4 | 8. | .0 |

| TABLE 4. | Average Instantaneous (ITHM) and Seven-Day (THMFP) |
|----------|--|
| | Total Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated |
| | Raw Water and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples |
| | (June 27 - September 26, 1979) |

| | ITHM (µg/l) | | THMFP (µg/l) | |
|----------------|-------------|-----------------------|--------------|-----------------------|
| Sample | Mean | Standard Deviation | Mean | Standard Deviation |
| Raw | 106 | 18.6 | 209 | 25.9 |
| 2-gpm Effluent | 51 | 33.8 | 144 | 42.1 |
| 4-gpm Effluent | 80 | 27.7 | 179 | 36.7 |
| 6-gpm Effluent | 88 | 23.7 | 187 | 35.8 |
| | | | | |



Total Trihalomethane (TTHM) Concentrations in Chlorinated 2-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Contactor Effluent Samples After THirty Minutes (TTHM) and Seven Days (THMFP). Figure 3.

concentrations after seventy days of operation. None-the-less, ITHM and THMFP were reduced by GAC contact throughout the entire period of operation (92 days). The average THMFP removal in this column was 30.9 percent. A decrease in THMFP removal efficiency with time in service for the three GAC contactors is illustrated in Figure 4. Table 5 summarizes the removal of THMFP by the three GAC contactors.

ITHM concentrations produced in these samples averaged 51 μ g/1, with a range of 11 μ g/1 to 115 μ g/1, and represented an average of 36.5 percent of the THMFP of the effluent water. THMFP concentrations ranged from 65 μ g/1 to 226 μ g/1. The average THMFP in these samples was 144 μ g/1. Peaks in THMFP concentration corresponding to those that occurred in the THMFP of raw water samples late in the period of operation are apparent in Figure 3.

Figure 5 illustrates the total mass of THMFP adsorbed by the three carbon contactors with time in service. The 2-gpm contactor adsorbed nearly 0.14 pounds of THMFP over the 92 days of operation. The adsorptive capacity of the column was virtually nil when operation was terminated.

<u>Four-gpm contactor effluent</u>. Figure 6 shows the ITHM and THMFP concentrations produced by chlorination of the effluent of the 4-gpm contactor. Both these concentrations increased slightly with increasing time in service of the contactor. Figure 4 shows that the initial THMFP reduction by this GAC contactor was less than 20 percent and remained low throughout the study period, the average removal being 13.7 percent.



Figure 4. Percent Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Total Organic Carbon (TOC) by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm Flow Rates.

| | (| 1- <u>Sample THMFP</u>) x 100 Raw Water THMFP) x 100 |
|----------------|------|--|
| Sample | Mean | Standard Deviation |
| | | |
| 2-gpm Effluent | 30.9 | 16.5 |
| 4-gpm Effluent | 13.7 | 10.5 |
| 6-gpm Effluent | 10.2 | 5.5 |
| | | |

| TABLE 5. | Percent Reduction in Trihalomethane |
|----------|--|
| | Contact (June 27 - September 26, 1980) |









ITHM concentrations varied from a high of 143 μ g/l to a low of 15 μ g/l, averaging 80 μ g/l. THMFP concentrations were an average of 53.7 percent greater and averaged 179 μ g/l. From Figure 6, it can be seen that the peaks in THMFP concentration corresponding to those observed in the raw water THMFP were present but to a lesser degree.

Figure 5 illustrates that the total mass of THMFP adsorbed by the 4-gpm contactor was considerably less than that adsorbed by the 2-gpm contactor. The column's capacity of approximately 0.05 pounds had been reached after 75 days in service.

<u>Six-gpm contactor effluent</u>. THM concentrations in the effluent of the 6-gpm contactor are shown in Figure 7. This contactor was out of service for a period of thirteen days at the beginning of the study period. It can be seen from this figure that both ITHM and THMFP concentrations were very nearly as great as those in chlorinated raw water samples. The average ITHM concentration was 88 μ g/l and the average THMFP concentration was 187 μ g/l during the study period. Similar peaks in the THMFP of this water and raw water were observed.

Figure 4 shows that THMFP removal at this hydraulic loading was just over ten percent initially and remained fairly consistent over the study period. The average THMFP removal for the period was 10.2 percent. Figure 5 shows that the carbon adsorbed only 0.04 pounds of THMFP before it was exhausted.

Total Organic Carbon

TOC was measured in this study to provide an indication of the organic content of the samples and to serve as a surrogate measure





of THM precursor concentration. Data from these analyses are presented in Appendix B, Table Bl.

<u>Raw water samples</u>. Concentrations of TOC in the raw water are plotted in Figures 8, 9, and 10, for purposes of comparison to the TOC in the effluents of the three GAC contactors. The TOC concentration in the raw water remained fairly consistent until after day 65 when it started increasing, peaking on day 75, and remaining high for the remainder of the study period. Raw water TOC concentrations ranged from 4.9 mg/l to 10.3 mg/l, the average concentration being 6.9 mg/l. Table 6 summarizes TOC concentrations in the raw water and GAC contactor effluent samples.

<u>Two-gpm contactor effluent</u>. Figure 8 illustrates the TOC concentrations in the effluent of the 2-gpm contactor. As can be seen, effluent TOC increased during the period of study, and approached the level of TOC in the raw water. The sharp increase in raw water TOC after day 65 was also evident in the effluent.

Figure 4 illustrates the decline in removal of TOC by GAC contact with increasing time in service. TOC removal was 82 percent initially and decreased steadily to a low of 23 percent. Average TOC removal over the period of operation was 54.8 percent. Table 7 summarizes the TOC removal achieved by GAC contact.

Figure 11 represents the total mass of TOC adsorbed by the GAC during the study period. When operation was terminated, a total of eight pounds of TOC had been adsorbed. The shape of the curve does



Figure 8. Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations in Raw Water and 2-gpm Granular Activated Carbon Contactor Effluent Samples.







| TABLE 6. | Total Organic Carbon (TOC) Concentrations |
|----------|---|
| | in Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor |
| | Effluent Samples (June 27 - September 26, |
| | 1979). |

| | TOC (mg/1) | | |
|----------------|------------|--------------------|--|
| Sample | Mean | Standard Deviation | |
| Raw | 6.9 | 1.6 | |
| 2-gpm Effluent | 3.2 | 2.0 | |
| 4-gpm Effluent | 5.2 | 1.7 | |
| 6-gpm Effluent | 5.6 | 1.8 | |
| | | | |

| | Percent Removal | | |
|----------------|-----------------|--------------------|--|
| Sample | Mean | Standard Deviation | |
| 2-gpm Effluent | 54.8 | 20.2 | |
| 4-gpm Effluent | 25.9 | 12.6 | |
| 6-gpm Effluent | 23.0 | 12.4 | |

| TABLE | 7. | Percent Removal of Total Organic |
|-------|----|----------------------------------|
| | | Carbon (TOC) by GAC Contact |
| | | (June 27 - September 26, 1979) |





not indicate with certainty that the column's capacity had been reached at that time.

<u>Four-gpm contactor effluent</u>. TOC concentrations in samples of effluent water from the 4-gpm contactor are shown in Figure 9. Although some reduction in TOC was evident in all samples, the concentrations of TOC in the effluent rapidly approached those of the raw water. Effluent TOC concentrations increased with the raw water concentrations after day 65. TOC concentrations in the effluent from this contactor ranged from 3.2 mg/l to 8.7 mg/l, and the average concentration for the period of operation was 5.2 mg/l.

Figure 4 illustrates the percent removal of TOC by GAC contact at a 4-gpm rate of flow. Initially 58 percent of the influent TOC was removed, but the removal efficiency decreased rapidly, averaging 25.9 percent over the period of operation. When operation was terminated, the carbon in this contactor had adsorbed four pounds of TOC, as is shown in Figure 11.

<u>Six-gpm contactor effluent</u>. GAC contact at this flow rate removed some TOC throughout the period of operation. Figure 10 shows that there was not a great difference in TOC concentration in the raw water and the effluent from the GAC contactor. The TOC concentration in the effluent increased markedly after day 65 concomitantly with the increased TOC in the raw water. The average TOC concentration in the effluent samples was 5.6 mg/l. The range over the study period was 3.7 mg/l to 9.1 mg/l.

Almost two pounds of TOC had been adsorbed by the carbon in this contactor when operation was ended (Figure 11). Figure 4 shows that TOC removal was initially 41 percent and decreased rapidly with time in service. The average TOC removal achieved was 23 percent.

Color

Color measurements in raw and GAC treated samples are listed in Appendix B, Table B5. Color removal by GAC contact is summarized in Table 8. GAC contact at EBCTs of 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes (2-, 4-, and 6-gpm) reduced raw water color an average of 35.1, 17.5, and 14.2 percent, respectively. Color in the effluent samples ranged from 20 to 120 color units. As might be expected, color removal by GAC contact decreased with time in service of the GAC contactors.

Turbidity

Although the carbon contactors were operated in an upflow mode, flow rates were not sufficiently high to allow all of the turbidity in the effluents to pass. Turbidity was removed to some degree from raw water at all flow rates used in this study. Raw water turbidity measurements are illustrated in Figure 12. After day 60 they increased dramatically, peaking on days 75 and 89. Effluent turbidity showed corresponding increases. On several occasions late in the study effluent turbidity exceeded the turbidity in the raw water. Appendix B, Table B4, contains turbidity data for all samples collected during the study.

| | Percent Color Removal | |
|-----------------|-----------------------|-------|
| Sample | Mean | Range |
| | | |
| 2-gpm Contactor | 35.1 | 9-62 |
| 4-gpm Contactor | 17.5 | 0-55 |
| 6-gpm Contactor | 14.2 | 0-55 |
| | | |

Table 8. Color Removal by GAC Contact (June 27 - September 26, 1979)
EFFECTS OF EMPTY BED CONTACT TIME

The three GAC contactors were operated at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm with corresponding EBCTs of 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes. Differences in removal of THMFP, TOC, color, and turbidity were observed at the different EBCTs.

Trihalomethane Formation Potential

Table 4 summarizes the THM data for the three carbon contactor effluents. The highest concentrations were found in the effluent samples from the 6-gpm contactor which had the shortest EBCT, 6.6 minutes. Lower concentrations were produced in samples collected from the 4-gpm contactor which had an EBCT of 13 minutes. The lowest THM concentrations were achieved by an EBCT of 26 minutes in the 2-gpm contactor.

Correspondingly, the best removal (30.9 percent) of THMFP was effected by the 2-gpm contactor. Table 5 summarizes the percent removal by the three contactors. The average removal observed in the column with 13 minutes EBCT was less than half that in the 2-gpm contactor, 13.7 percent. The least effective THMFP removal corresponded to the shortest EBCT. At 6.6 minutes EBCT, an average of only 10.2 percent of the THMFP was removed. Figure 4 illustrates the percent removal of THMFP at the three EBCTs. From this figure it can be seen that not only was the percent removal reduced at shorter EBCTs, but also the efficiency of the contactor decreased more rapidly with time in service.

Table 3 summarizes the relative proportions of ITHM and THMFP at different flow rates and corresponding EBCTs. The ITHM concentration was 54.9 percent of the THMFP in the raw water samples. After GAC contact at 2-gpm (26 minutes EBCT) the ITHM was only 36.5 percent of the THMFP of the water. It appears from the data that as EBCT was reduced, the ITHM was a greater percentage of the THMFP. Represented another way, the percent increase in TTHM over the seven-day period of chlorine contact was greatest in samples from the GAC columns with the longer EBCT's. The significance of this observation will be addressed in the Discussion chapter.

Figure 5 shows how the mass of THMFP adsorbed by GAC varied with EBCT. At a flow rate of 6-gpm (EBCT of 6.6 minutes), the total THMFP adsorbed was less than that observed at longer EBCTs. A much greater mass of THMFP was adsorbed by GAC at 2-gpm (EBCT of 26 minutes). nearly three times that adsorbed at the 4-gpm flow rate.

Total Organic Carbon

The concentration of TOC in the effluent also varied with the time the water was in contact with the carbon. At slower flow rates and longer EBCTs, the TOC concentration that was present in the effluent was lower. Table 6 summarizes the TOC data, and shows 1) that the 2-gpm contactor effluent TOC concentrations were the lowest, an average of 3.2 mg/l and 2) that the TOC in the 6-gpm contactor effluent was the highest, an average of 5.6 mg/l. As with THMFP, the reduction of TOC by GAC contact was greatest at the longest EBCT.

Table 7 summarizes the removal of TOC by the three GAC contactors.

Figure 11 shows that the total mass of TOC adsorbed in the three GAC contactors was directly related to EBCT. At 26 minutes EBCT, TOC adsorbed was nearly twice that at 13 minutes EBCT and four times that at 6.6 minutes EBCT.

Color Removal

Color removal also varied with EBCT, and was greatest at longer EBCTs. Color removal data are summarized in Table 8. Color removal was variable during the study period, but in general it decreased with time in service of the carbon contactors at all EBCTs. The maximum color removal achieved was 62 percent. Table B5 contains color data for the study period.

Turbidity Removal

Some removal of turbidity was achieved by all three GAC contactors. As was expected, more turbidity was permitted to pass through the beds at higher flow rates. Raw water turbidity removals were 44.9, 28.3, and 17.9 percent at flow rates of 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm, respectively. Turbidity removal was variable over the period at all EBCTs. Late in the study, some effluent samples had higher turbidities than the raw water. Table B4 contains turbidity measurements recorded during the study.

WATER QUALITY AND THMFP

Total Organic Carbon

Raw water TOC (Figures 8, 9, and 10) remained fairly consistent until it increased sharply after day 65. It does not noticeably increase and decrease correspondingly with raw water THMFP, except during the final three weeks of the study when both concentrations reached their maximum. The data did not illustrate that there was a dependable, predictive relationship between TOC concentrations and corresponding THMFP concentrations.

Color

Figure 12 shows the variation in raw water color during the study. Until after approximately sixty days, the color of the raw water remained at a fairly consistent level. Raw water color increased dramatically after that time, reaching two peak values on days 75 and 89. The average raw water color was 56 color units. The maximum color observed was 130 color units.

Color values had much the same relationship to THMFP concentrations as did TOC concentrations. They did not fluctuate in a corresponding manner except during the time the peak values were observed at days 57, and especially at day 75 and 89.

Turbidity

Raw water turbidity also was maximal on days 75 and 89. The turbidity of the raw water was fairly constant throughout the period of study prior to day 60. It increased slightly on day 33 and



Raw Water Turbidity and Color Measurements During the Period of Operation (June 27 - September 26, 1979).

corresponded to a slight increase in raw water THMFP on that day as well.

ITHM concentrations corresponded much less well with increased turbidity than did THMFP concentrations. Table 3 shows that ITHM concentrations represented less of the THMFP in samples with higher turbidity (i.e. raw water and effluent samples from the higher flow rate contactors). The highest percentage of influent turbidity was removed by the 2-gpm contactor, and the ITHM produced in those samples comprised a smaller proportion of the THMFP than was observed in either the raw water or the other two contactor effluents.

Figure 4 shows that when the GAC contactors were achieving high removals of TOC, the removals of THMFP were not as high. This effect was not so pronounced in the 2-gpm contactor as it was in the 4-gpm and 6-gpm contactors. These two higher-rate contactors passed greater amounts of turbidity and THMFP as well.

Chlorophyll-a Concentrations and Algal Counts

Available chlorophyll-a data for the period of study illustrated in Figure 13, were not abundant. The data are tabulated in Appendix C, Table Cl. It is difficult to relate the observed concentrations of chlorophyll-a to the THMFP produced in the raw water. On day 78, near the time when THMFP was maximal, chlorophyll-a was 9.5 μ g/l. Measurements for several weeks prior to that are not available, so it is difficult to interpret the importance of that concentration. While 9.5 μ g/l is a relatively high concentration, it is not atypical during the summer months in the reservoir.



Reservoir Algal Counts and Chlorophyll-a Concentrations During the Period of Operation (June 27 - September 26, 1979).

Only one algal bloom period was evident during the study period. Algal counts in the reservoir are represented in Figure 13 and tabulated in Appendix C, Table C2. The maximum algae count of 8323 cells/ml corresponded to a slight increase in raw water THMFP. The large increases in THMFP on days 75 and 89 did not correspond to increases in algal populations.

Rainfall and Reservoir Stage

Rainfall data and measurements of reservoir stage are tabulated in Appendix C, Tables C3 and C4, respectively. Fluctuations in these two measurements correspond well. Increases in rainfall were followed shortly in time by a rise in reservoir surface elevation. These increases in water level correspond to the majority of peaks in THMFP at days 33, 50, 57, and especially 75 and 89. As has been reported previously, increases in other water quality measurements such as color, turbidity, and TOC also were noted on these days. The significance of these correlations will be discussed in the following section.

V. DISCUSSION

GAC PRETREATMENT FOR TRIHALOMETHANE PRECURSOR REMOVAL

The results of this study demonstrated that GAC pretreatment was effective for the removal of THM precursors. In addition, GAC was effective in reducing the THMFP, TOC, and color of raw water, all of which are associated in one way or another with concentrations of precursor substances. It is emphasized that this study was undertaken to evaluate the effectiveness of GAC for precursor removal in general, and not with a view to its applicability specifically for meeting the newly-promulgated MCL of 100 μ g/1 TTHM. However, some indication can be drawn from the data regarding the usefulness of GAC pretreatment for complying with the MCL and will be addressed.

The maximum removal of THM precursors (as measured by THMFP) attained in this study was slightly greater than 80 percent. Precursor removal efficiency diminished steadily with time in service of the GAC columns, a phenomenon demonstrated by other studies reported in the literature (21,51). The minimum observed THMFP concentration was 65 μ g/l, produced in water pretreated with GAC at a flow rate of 2 gpm.

The THMFP of the effluents from the three GAC contactors increased steadily during the study period as the capacity of the carbon for adsorbing precursors was decreased. As the adsorbed mass of THMFP and TOC (Figures 5 and 11) increased, the percent reduction in THMFP and TOC (Figure 4) decreased. This same result

has been observed in other research (21). On a weight basis, the best removal of TOC observed was 74 mg/g GAC. GAC removed a maximum of 1.3 mg THMFP per gram of GAC (Table 9). This removal is significantly less than that reported by Wood and DeMarco (74); however, it should be noted that the nature and concentration of precursors in the raw water treated in that study were quite different as well.

Figure 3 shows that GAC pretreatment may have been capable of producing an effluent water quality good enough to be in compliance with the THM MCL up to approximately 40 days in service at a flow of 2 gpm under summer conditions. This suggestion is based on the specification by the EPA (10) that compliance with the MCL would be based on a number of samples collected quarterly from various points in a water supplier's distribution system. Assuming that most tap water in the United States has a residence time in the distribution system of less than seven days (the period of chlorine contact used to define THMFP), THM concentrations in the chlorinated effluent water from this contactor would have likely met the MCL. It may be reasonably expected that worst-case conditions in terms of some of the factors affecting THM production, for example temperature and organic content of the raw water, occur during the summer. As a result, if GAC pretreatment is effective under these conditions, it shows promise for THM control year-around.

Comparison of Figures 3, 6, and 7 with Figure 2 shows that the THMFP of the GAC contactor effluents fluctuated in a manner similar to that of the raw water. This same pattern of fluctuation was

| Flow Rate (gpm) | mg TOC Removed g GAC | mg THMFP Removed g GAC |
|-----------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|
| 2 . | 74 | 1.3 |
| 4 | 36 | 0.5 |
| 6* | 17 | 0.4 |

TABLE 9. Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Total Organic Carbon (TOC) by GAC by Weight (June 27 - September 26, 1979)

*6-gpm contactor was out of service July 1 - July 13, 1979.

observed in the removal of TOC by GAC (Figures 8, 9, and 10). This relationship indicates that the effectiveness of GAC is such that the effluent quality will vary with the quality of the influent and may not be assumed to decrease only as a function of time in service.

The data from this study suggest that GAC was effective for the removal of THM precursors that react readily with chlorine (i.e. those responsible for ITHM concentrations) more so than for those precursors which react more slowly (i.e. those responsible for THMFP concentrations). Figure 2 shows that the ITHM concentration in a sample was not a constant proportion of the THMFP of that sample. ITHM concentrations cannot be relied upon to predict the THMFP concentration which will be produced. One possible explanation is the existence of two types of precursor materials, one type responsible for production of ITHM concentrations, and another type which requires several days to react completely with available chlorine to produce THMFP concentrations. Differing relative concentrations of these two types of precursors could be responsible for the different ITHM/ THMFP ratios observed among different samples.

The suggestion that GAC pretreatment is selective for the removal of ITHM-forming precursors is implicit in the data displayed in Table 3. Comparison of the relative proportions of ITHM and THMFP concentrations shows that the GAC contactor effluent samples had a smaller relative proportion of ITHM-forming precursors than the raw water. While Table 5 shows that THMFP was reduced by GAC contact at all flow rates used in this study, Table 3 indicates that compounds that



Figure 14. Percent Removal of Trihalomethane Formation Potential (THMFP) and Instantaneous Trihalomethanes (ITHM) by Granular Activated Carbon Contact at 2-, 4-, and 6-gpm Flow Rates

readily react to form THMs were removed to a greater extent than those that react more slowly.

Some suggestion of the characters of these two types of precursors with regard to whether they are soluble or associated with particulate matter in the water can be drawn from the data. Figure 4 shows that at flow rates of 4-gpm and 6-gpm, GAC contact was selective for the removal of TOC that was not responsible for THMFP. While the removals of TOC were relatively great, corresponding THMFP removals were not. This is not evident from the data for the 2-gpm contactor. At the higher flow rates, not only was the fraction of the TOC responsible for THMFP passing through the bed, these columns were also passing larger amounts of the influent turbidity (Table B4). This suggests that organic material associated with particulate matter in the water may have been responsible for a large fraction of the THMFP of the column effluents.

Figure 14 shows that the percent removal of ITHM by the three GAC contactors parallels the removal of TOC much more closely than that of THMFP. Selectivity for non-precursor TOC is not evident in the case of the removal of ITHM precursors. The GAC contactors were designed primarily as adsorbers rather than filters and as such were more efficient for removing adsorbable organics than filterable particulates. This further substantiates the contention that most precursors removed by GAC contact are those responsible for ITHM rather than THMFP and that these are most likely soluble rather than particulate forms.

EFFECTS OF EMPTY BED CONTACT TIME

GAC pretreatment at a flow rate of 2 gpm consistently produced the best quality effluent in terms of THMFP, TOC, and color. In addition, the effluent quality of the 2-gpm contactor did not decrease as rapidly with increasing time in service as did that of the 4- and 6-gpm contactors. The greatest mass of both TOC and THMFP was removed by the 2-gpm contactor.

The results of this study indicate that GAC pretreatment of Occoquan Reservoir water at a flow rate of 2 gpm or less was necessary to produce an effluent water with a THMFP in the range to comply with MCL. At 4 and 6 gpm, the THMFP of the effluent was equal to or greater than 100 μ g/l throughout the study period. At both these flow rates, even the ITHM concentrations were in excess of 100 μ g/l at times. Of course, these data evaluate GAC contact as the sole treatment process used, but if GAC pretreatment was used in conjunction with standard coagulation, sedimentation, and filtration the effluent quality would surely be further improved.

The best removal of THMFP and TOC on a weight basis (Table 9) was achieved at 2 gpm. Figures 5 and 11 show that GAC was adsorbing greater quantities of both THMFP and TOC at 2-gpm than at 4 or 6 gpm. The capacity of GAC at the higher flow rates was reached more quickly than at 2 gpm. Furthermore, the differences in the capacities were not proportional to the flow rates, a fact that indicates that some non-adsorptive property (such as filtration capacity) of the columns was responsible for improving the 2-gpm contactor's performance.

It is obvious from the data represented in Figures 3-11 and Tables 3-8 that the performance of the GAC in terms of effluent quality decreased as flow rate increased. It is interesting to note that effluent quality and GAC performance was not a linear function of flow rate. The 2-gpm contactor produced a significantly better effluent quality than either the 4- or 6-gpm contactors which were not in most cases greatly different from one another in terms of effluent quality and carbon performance. It should be noted that backwashing the GAC contactors late in the period of operation did not extend the bed-life or significantly improve the performance of the contactors.

WATER QUALITY AND THMFP

No measure of water quality was found to have a predictive relationship to THMFP. Several characteristics (TOC, color, turbidity) exhibited the same general pattern of fluctuation as THMFP over the period of study (Figures 3, 8, and 12). Because these characteristics did fluctuate together, it is impossible to single out the one whose effect was the most significant.

These water quality characteristics are interrelated in a complex cause-and-effect relationship with each other and other factors (algal populations, chlorophyll-a concentrations, rainfall) involved in the natural processes of surface water systems. The data clearly show that a substantial rainfall occurring after day 70 was followed by a rise in reservoir surface elevation due to runoff (Tables C3 and C4). Concomitantly, the turbidity, color, and TOC of the raw water

increased (Figures 8 and 12). An increase in THMFP also occurred at this time (Figure 2). Algal populations were not observed to increase (Figure 13), indicating that the effect of rainfall and runoff in this instance did not stimulate their growth. In turn, this indicates that algae probably were not responsible for the increased THMFP concentrations observed during that period of time.

VI. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The objectives of this study were to evaluate the effectiveness of granular activated carbon (GAC) pretreatment for the removal of trihalomethane (THM) precursors, to determine if this effectiveness varies with empty bed contact time (EBCT), and to attempt to correlate various measures of raw water quality to the trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) of the water. Raw water from the Occoquan Reservoir was treated by upflow GAC contact at flow rates of two, four, and six gallons per minute (gpm), corresponding to EBCTs of 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes, respectively. The column effluents and the influent raw water were chlorinated and analyzed for THMs after chlorine contact times of 30 minutes, one, two, four, and seven days.

Influent raw water and the three contactor effluents were analyzed for total organic carbon (TOC), color, and turbidity to determine the relationship between these water quality characteristics and THMFP. The GAC contactors were operated for thirteen weeks, from June 27 to September 26, 1979, and the effectiveness of GAC contact was found to diminish with time in service of the carbon contactors. During the period of operation chlorophyll-a concentrations and algal populations in the reservoir, rainfall, and reservoir surface elevation were monitored to determine what relationship exists between these characteristics and the THMFP of the reservoir water.

The significant conclusions that may be drawn from the results of this study are:

- Precursors of THMs (as measured by THMFP and TOC) can be removed from untreated surface water by granular activated carbon contact. The most effective removals on a weight basis were achieved at a flow of 2 gpm. During the thirteen week study, THMFP removal was
 3 mg/g carbon and TOC removal was 74 mg/g carbon.
- 2. The degree to which THM precursors were reduced by GAC contact was directly related to EBCT. Removals of THMFP and TOC were greatest at an EBCT of 26 minutes (averaging 30.9 and 54.8 percent, respectively), less at an EBCT of 13 minutes (averaging 13.7 and 25.9 percent, respectively) and least at an EBCT of 6.6 minutes (averaging 10.2 and 23.0 percent, respectively).
- 3. GAC contact (in the range of flow rates studied) in an upflow mode appeared to be selective for the removal of the fraction of THM precursors in the raw water responsible for the THM concentrations produced in thirty minutes of chlorine contact time (ITHM). Those precursors responsible for the additional THM concentrations produced after thirty minutes and up to seven days of chlorine contact (THMFP) appear to have been associated with particulate matter (turbidity) in the raw water which, due to the upflow design of the system, was in large measure (55 to 82 percent) passing through the contactors, or larger molecular weight substances which were not well adsorbed by the carbon used.
- 4. Direct correlations between THMFP and the turbidity, color, TOC, chlorophyll-a concentrations, and algal counts in the raw water could not be established by the data collected during this study.

Rainstorms and resulting runoff late in the period of operation resulted in the concomitant increases in the color, turbidity, and TOC concentrations of the raw water. Which of these three factors was most responsible for the resultant increase in THMFP is not clear. It is likely that all three are related to the concentration of available THM precursors, as well as to each other, so that a single parameter cannot be reliably used to predict the THMFP of a water.

VII. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

The results of this study suggest that raw water turbidity may play a significant role in the trihalomethane formation potential of the water. Research to answer the following questions would help to verify this suggestion and evaluate its significance in terms of water treatment practices to control trihalomethane formation potential:

- What effect do coagulation, flocculation, and sedimentation have on the THMFP of a water and the relative proportions of THMFP and ITHM concentrations produced upon chlorination of that water?
- 2. Do coagulation, flocculation, and sedimentation further reduce the THMFP of a water when applied subsequent to GAC contact?

LITERATURE CITED

- Rook, J. J., "Formation of Haloforms During Chlorination of Natural Waters." <u>Water Treatment and Examination</u>, 23, 234 (1974).
- Bellar, T. A., Lichtenberg, J. J., and Kroner, R. C., "The Occurrence of Organohalides in Chlorinated Drinking Waters." EPA-670/4-74-008, USEPA, Cincinnati, Ohio (1974).
- Environmental Protection Agency, "Suspect Carcinogens in Water Supplies." Office of Research and Development Interim Report (1975).
- 4. Page, T., Harris, R. H., and Epstein, S. S., "Drinking Water and Cancer Mortality in Louisiana." <u>Science</u>, <u>193</u>, 55 (1976).
- Symons, J. M., Bellar, T. A., Carswell, J. K., DeMarco, J., Kropp, K. L., Robeck, G. G., Seieger, D. R., Slocum, C. J., Smith, B. L., and Stevens, A. A., "National Organics Reconnaissance Survey for Halogenated Organics." <u>Journal</u> of the American Water Works Association, 67, 634 (1975).
- Environmental Protection Agency, "The National Organic Monitoring Survey." Office of Water Supply, Technical Support Division, Cincinnati, Ohio (1978).
- National Cancer Institute, "Report on Carcinogenesis Bioassay of Chloroform." Carcinogenesis Program Division of Cancer Cause and Prevention, Washington, D.C. (1976).
- 8. National Academy of Sciences, <u>Drinking Water</u> and <u>Health</u>. NAS Publications, Washington, D.C. (1977).
- 9. Environmental Protection Agency (40 CFR, part 141), "Interim Primary Drinking Water Regulations. Control of Organic Chemical Contaminants in Drinking Water." <u>Federal Register</u>, <u>43</u>, (No. 28), 5756-5780, February 9, 1978.
- Environmental Protection Agency (CFR 40, part 141), "National Interim Primary Drinking Water Regulations; Control of Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water; Final Rule." <u>Federal</u> <u>Register</u>, <u>44</u> (No. 231), 68624-68707, November 29, 1979.
- 11. Stevens, A. A., Slocum, C. J., Seeger, D. R., and Robeck, G. G., "Chlorination of Organics in Drinking Water," in <u>Water Chlorination: Environmental Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 1, R. L. Jolley, ed., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor Michigan, pp. 77-104 (1976).

- Thompson, B. C., "Trihalomethane Formation Potential of Algal Extracellular Products and Biomass." M.S. Thesis, VPI & SU (1978).
- Briley, K. F., Williams, R. F., Longley, K. E., and Sorber, C. A., "Trihalomethane Production from Algal Precursors. Center for Applied Research and Technology, University of Texas at San Antonio, San Antonio, Texas (1979).
- Randall, C. W., Grizzard, T. J. and Hoehn, R. C., "Impact of Urban Runoff on Water Quality in the Occoquan Watershed." Virginia Water Resources Research Center Bulletin 80, VPI & SU, Blacksburg, Virginia (1978).
- Theiss, J. C., Stoner, G. D., Shimkin, M. B., and Weisburger, E. K., "Test for Carcinogenicity of Organic Contaminants of United States Drinking Waters by Pulmonary Tumor Response in Strain A Mice." Cancer Research, 37, 2717 (1977).
- 16. Simmon, V. F., and Tardiff, R. G., "Mutagenic Activity of Halogenated Compounds found in Chlorinated Drinking Water." in <u>Water Chlorination: Environmental Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 2, R. L. Jolley, H. Gorchev, and D. H. Hamilton, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 417-432 (1978).
- Loper, J. C., Lang, D. R. and Smith, C. C., "Mutagenicity of Complex Mixtures from Drinking Water." in <u>Water Chlorination</u>: <u>Environmental Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 2, R. L. Jolley, H. Gorchev, and D. H. Hamilton, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 433-450 (1978).
- 18. Alavanja, M., Goldstein, I., and Susser, M., "A Case Control Study of Gastrointestinal and Urinary Tract Cancer Mortality and Drinking Water Chlorination." in <u>Water Chlorination</u>: <u>Environmental Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 2, R. L. Jolley, H. Gorchev, and D. H. Hamilton, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 395-409 (1978).
- Morris, J. C., "Formation of Halogenated Organics by Chlorination of Water Supplies." Environmental Health Effects Research Series No. EPA-600/1-75-002, USEPA, Washington, D.C. (1975).
- Morris, J. C., and Baum, B., "Precursors and Mechanisms of Haloform Formation in the Chlorination of Water Supplies." <u>Water</u> <u>Chlorination</u>: <u>Environmental Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 2, R. L. Jolley, H. Gorchev, and D. H. Hamilton, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 29-48 (1978).
- 21. Rook, J. J., "Haloforms in Drinking Water." <u>Journal of the</u> <u>American Water Works Association</u>, <u>68</u>, 168 (1976).

- 22. Morrison, R. T., and Boyd, R. N., <u>Organic Chemistry</u>, 3rd ed., Allyn and Bacon, Inc., Boston, Mass. (1973).
- Bunn, W. W., Haas, B. B., Deane, E. R., and Kleopfer, R. D., "Formation of Trihalomethanes by Chlorination of Surface Water." <u>Environmental Letters</u>, 10, 205 (1975).
- Stevens, A. A., "Oxidation Techniques in Drinking Water Treatment: Formation of Non-polar Organo-chloro Compounds as By-Products of Chlorination." EPA-570/9-79-020 (1979).
- 25. Trussell, R. R., and Umphres, M. D., "The Formation of Trihalomethanes." <u>Journal of the American Water Works Association</u>, <u>70</u>, 604 (1978).
- 26. Arguello, M. D., Chriswell, C. D., Fritz, J. S., Kissinger, L. D., Lee, K. W., Richard, J. J., and Svec, H. J., "Trihalomethanes in Water: A Report on the Occurrence, Seasonal Variation in Concentrations, and precursors of Trihalomethanes." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 71, 504 (1979).
- Rook, J. J., "Chlorination Reactions of Fulvic Acids in Natural Waters." Environmental Science and Technology, <u>11</u>, 478 (1977).
- 28. Glaze, W. H., and Henderson, J. E., IV, "Formation of Organochlorine Compounds from the Chlorination of a Municipal Secondary Effluent." <u>Journal of the Water Pollution Control</u> <u>Federation</u>, <u>47</u>, 2511 (1975).
- 29. Young, J. S., Jr., and Singer, P., "Chloroform Formation in Public Water Supplies: A Case Study." <u>Journal of the</u> <u>American Water Works Association</u>, 71, 87 (1979)
- 30. Kopfler, F. C., Melton, R. G., Ling, R. D., and Coleman, W. E., "GC/MS Determination of Volatiles for the National Organics Reconnaissance Survey (NORS) of Drinking Water." in <u>Identification and Analysis of Organic Pollutants in Water</u>, L. H. Keith, ed., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 87-104 (1976).
- 31. Brett, R. W., and Calverley, R. A., "A One-Year Survey of Changes in Trihalomethane Concentrations Within a Distribution System." <u>Journal of the American Water Works</u> Association, <u>71</u>, 515, (1979).
- 32. Harms, L. L., and Looyenga, R. W., "Chlorination Adjustment to Reduce Chloroform Formation." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 69, 258 (1977).

- 33. Hoehn, R. C., and Randall, C. W., "Viruses, Organics, and Other Health-Related Constituents of the Occoquan Watershed and Water-Service Area. Part I: Trihalomethanes, Pesticides, and Metals." EPA 570/9-79-019, USEPA, Washington, D.C. (1979).
- Symons, J. M., "Interim Treatment Guide for the Control of Chloroform and Other Trihalomethanes." USEPA, Cincinnati, Ohio (1976).
- 35. Lange, A. L., and Kawczynski, E., "Controlling Organics: The Contra Costa County Experience." <u>Journal of the American</u> <u>Water Works Association</u>, 70, 653 (1978).
- 36. McGuire, M. J., Suffet, I. H., and Radzuil, J. V., "Assessment of Unit Processes for the Removal of Trace Organic Compounds from Drinking Water." <u>Journal of the American Water Works</u> Association, 70, 565 (1978).
- 37. Siemak, R. C., Trussell, R. R., Trussell, A. R., and Umphres, M. D., "How to Reduce Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water." <u>Civil Engineering</u>, <u>49</u>, 49 (1979).
- 38. Chudyk, W. A., Snoeyink, V. L., Beckmann, D., and Temperly, T. J., "Activated Carbon Versus Resin Adsorption of 2-Methylisoborneol and Chloroform." <u>Journal of the American</u> <u>Water Works Association, 71</u>, 529 (1979).
- Symons, J. M., and Clark, R. M., "Interim Treatment Guide for Controlling Organic Contaminants in Drinking Water Using Granular Activated Carbon." USEPA, Cincinnati, Ohio (1978).
- 40. Oliver, B. G., and Lawrence, J., "Haloforms in Drinking Water: A Study of Precursors and Precursor Removal." <u>Journal of</u> the American Water Works Association, 71, 161 (1979).
- 41. Hoehn, R. C., Goode, R. P., Randall, C. W., and Shaffer, P. T. B., "Chlorination and Water Treatment for Minimizing Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water," in <u>Water Chlorination</u>: <u>Environmental</u> <u>Impact and Health Effects</u>, Vol. 2, R. L. Jolley, H. Gorchev, and D. H. Hamilton, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 519-536 (1978).
- 42. Croll, B. T., "Organic Pollutants in Water." <u>Water Treatment</u> and Examination, 21, 213 (1972).
- Christman, R. F., and Ghassemi, M., "Chemical Nature of Organic Color in Water." <u>Journal of the American Water Works Assoc-</u> <u>iation</u>, <u>58</u>, 723 (1966).

- Sylvester, R. O., and Seabloom, R. W., "Influence of Site Characteristics on Quality of Impounded Water." <u>Journal</u> of the <u>American Water Works</u> <u>Association</u>, <u>57</u>, 1528 (1965).
- 45. Christman, R. F., and Minear, R. A., "Organics in Lakes," in <u>Organic Compounds in Aquatic Environments</u>, S. D. Faust and J. V. Hunter, eds., Marcel Dekker, New York, N.Y., pp. 119-143 (1971).
- 46. Black, A. P., and Christman, R. F., "Chemical Characteristics of Fulvic Acids." Journal of the American Water Works Association, <u>55</u>, 897 (1963).
- 47. Hoehn, R. C., Barnes, D. B., Thompson, B. C., Randall, C. W., Grizzard, T. J., and Shaffer, P. T. B., "Algae as Trihalomethane Precursors." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 72, 481 (1980), in press.
- 48. Reid, G. K., <u>Ecology of Inland Waters and Estuaries</u>, D. Van Nostrand Company, New York, N.Y. (1961).
- Wilson, A. L., "Determination of Fulvic Acids in Water." <u>Journal</u> of <u>Applied Chemistry</u>, <u>9</u>, 501 (1959).
- 50. Schnitzer, M. and Khan, S. U., <u>Humic Substances in the Environ-</u> ment, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, N.Y. (1972).
- Edzwald, J. K., "A Preliminary Feasibility Study of the Removal of Trihalomethane Precursors by Direct Filtration." USEPA, Cincinnati, Ohio (1979).
- Symons, J. M., and Stevens, A. A., "Oxidation Techniques in Drinking Water Treatment: Physical-Chemical Pretreatment for the Removal of Precursors." EPA-570/9-79-020 (1979).
- Babcock, D. S., and Singer, P. C., "Chlorination and Coagulation of Humic and Fulvic Acids." <u>Journal of the American Water</u> <u>Works Association</u>, <u>71</u>, 149 (1979).
- 54. Goode, R. P., "Effectiveness of Water Treatment Methods for the Removal of Haloforms and Their Precursors." M.S. Thesis, VPI & SU, Blacksburg, Virginia (1977).
- 55. Miltner, R. J., "The Effect of Chlorine Dioxide on Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water." M.S. Thesis, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, Ohio (1976).
- Rook, J. J., and Evans, S., "Removal of Trihalomethane Precursors from Surface Waters Using Weak Base Resins." <u>Journal of the</u> <u>American Water Works Association</u>, <u>71</u>, 520 (1979).

- 57. McNair, H. M., and Bonelli, E. J., <u>Basic Gas Chromatography</u>, Varian Aerograph, Walnut Creek, Cal. (1968).
- McGuire, M. J., and Suffet, I. H., "Adsorption of Organics from Domestic Water Supplies." <u>Journal of the American</u> <u>Water Works</u> Association, 70, 621 (1978).
- 59. Mattson, J. S., and Mark, H. B., Jr., <u>Activated Carbon</u> -<u>Surface Chemistry and Adsorption from Solution</u>. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, N.Y. (1971).
- 60. Snoeyink, V. L., and Weber, W. J., Jr., "The Surface Chemistry of Active Carbon. A Discussion of Structure and Surface Functional Groups." <u>Environmental Science and Technology</u>, <u>1</u>, 228 (1967).
- 61. Dubinin, M. M., "Porous Structure and Adsorption Properties of Active Carbons." in <u>Chemistry and Physics of Carbon</u>, Vol. 2., Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, N.Y. (1966).
- 62. Weber, W. J., and Morris, J. C., "Kinetics of Adsorption of Carbon from Solution." <u>Journal of the American Society of</u> <u>Civil Engineers</u> - <u>Sanitary Engineering Division</u>, <u>89</u>, 31 (1963).
- 63. Keith, L. H., ed., <u>Identification</u> and <u>Analysis</u> of <u>Organic</u> <u>Pollutants</u> in <u>Water</u>. Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan (1976).
- 64. Baker, R. A., "Chromatographic Evaluation of Activated Carbon." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 56, 92 (1964).
- 65. Ishizaki, C., and Cookson, J. T., Jr., "Influence of Surface Oxides on Adsorption and Catalysis with Activated Carbons." in <u>Chemistry of Water Supply Treatment and Distribution</u>, A. J. Rubin, ed., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan, pp. 201-231 (1974).
- 66. McCreary, J. J., and Snoeyink, V. L., "Granular Activated Carbon in Water Treatment." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 69 437 (1977).
- 67. Herzing, D. R., Snoeyink, V. L., and Wood, N. F., "Activated Carbon Adsorption of the Odorous Compound 2-Methylisoborneol and Geosmin." Journal of the American Water Works Association, 69, 223 (1977).
- 68. Westvaco, "Nuchar Granular Activated Carbons, Nuchar WV-G." Product Data Bulletin G-102 (1977).

- 69. Westvaco, "Nuchar Granular Activated Carbons, Nuchar WV-DC." Product Data Bulletin G-105 (1977).
- 70. Anon. <u>Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and</u> <u>Wastewater</u>, 14th Edition. American Public Health Association, Washington, D.C. (1975).
- Dohrmann Division of Envirotech Corporation, "Operations Manual, DC-54 Ultra Low Level Total Organic Carbon Analyzer System, Edition 1." (May, 1977).
- 72. Palin, A. T., "Methods for the Determination, in Water, of Free and Combined Available Chlorine, Chlorine Dioxide, and Chlorite, Bromine, Iodine, and Ozone Using Diethyl-p-phenylenediamine (DPD)." Journal of the American Institute of Water Engineering, 21, 537 (1967).
- 73. Glaze, W. H., and Rawley, R., "A Convenient Liquid/Liquid Extraction Method for the Determination of Chloroform and Other Halomethanes in Water (Modified Procedure)." Institute of Applied Sciences, North Texas State University, Denton, Texas (1978).
- 74. Wood, P. R., and DeMarco, J., "Effectiveness of Various Adsorbents in Removing Organic Compounds From Water. Part II - Removing Total Organic Carbon and Trihalomethane Precursor Substances." in Activated Carbon Adsorption of Organics from the Aqueous Phase, I. H. Suffet and J. M. McGuire, eds., Ann Arbor Science, Ann Arbor, Michigan (in press).

APPENDIX A

,

TRIHALOMETHANE CONCENTRATIONS IN CHLORINATED RAW WATER INFLUENT AND GAC (WESTVACO NUCHAR WV-G AND WV-DC) CONTACTOR EFFLUENT SAMPLES

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (μ g/l) | | | | |
|---------|-----------|---|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | ТТНМ |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 82 | 5 | I | ND* | 88 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 76 | 4 | <1 | ND | 80 |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 91 | 5 | <] | ND | 96 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 82 | 6 | 4 | ND | 92 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 112 | 6 | 3 | ND | 121 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 114 | 6 | 3 | ND | 123 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 104 | 6 | 4 | ND | 114 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 103 | 6 | 4 | ND | 113 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 100 | 8 | 1 | ND | 109 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 94 | 7 | ND | ND | 105 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 85 | 6 | 1 | ND | 92 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 93 | 7 | <1 | ND | 100 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 85 | 7 | 1 | ND | 93 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 83 | 7 | 1 | ND | 91 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 79 | 7 | ſ | ND | 87 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 84 | 6 | <] | ND | 90 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 85 | 6 | ND | ND | 91 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 81 | 7 | 5 | ND | 03 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 91 | 8 | ND | ND | 90 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 96 | 5 | 7 | ND | 108 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 110 | 4 | 4 | ND | 118 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 126 | 5 | 5 | ND | 136 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 130 | 4 | 5 | ND | 130 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 110 | 4 | <] | ND | 133 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 152 | 5 | 1 | ND | 150 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 100 | 3 | <] | ND | 103 |

| TABLE A1. | Instantaneous Trihalomethane Concentration | ons ir |
|-----------|--|--------|
| | Chlorinated Raw Water Samples | |

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------------------------------------|---------|---------------------|----------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 146 | 12 | 2 | ND* | 160 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | [.] | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 161 | 11 | 2 | ND | 174 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 172 | 12 | 2 | ND | 186 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 178 | 13 | 2 | ND | 193 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 153 | 14 | 2 | ND | 169 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 155 | 14 | <1 | ND | 169 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 134 | 13 | 2 | ND | 149 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 146 | 16 | 1 | ND | 163 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 146 | 18 | 1 | ND | 165 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 137 | 16 | 1 | ND | 154 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 157 | 20 | 1 | ND | 178 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 143 | 19 | 1 | ND | 163 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 163 | 21 | 1 | ND | 185 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 159 | 18 | 1 | ND | 178 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 137 | 20 | 1 | ND | 158 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 148 | 18 | 1 | ND | 167 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 126 | 18 | 1 | ND | 145 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 173 | 18 | 1 | ND | 192 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 134 | 12 | 1 | ND | 147 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 195 | 8 | 2 | ND | 205 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 227 | 10 | 2 | ND | 239 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 146 | 7 | 1 | ND | 154 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 180 | 9 | 1 | ND | 190 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 194 | 9 | 1 | ND | 204 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 179 | 8 | 1 | ND | 188 |

TABLE A2. One-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated Raw Water Samples

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------------------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 180 | 14 | 1 | ND* | 195 | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 196 | 15 | 1 | ND | 211 | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 175 | 15 | 1 | ND | 191 | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 147 | 17 | 1 | ND | 165 | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 173 | 20 | 1 | ND | 194 | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 166 | 21 | 1 | ND | 188 | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | | | | | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 154 | 22 | 1 | ND | 177 | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 156 | 22 | 1 | ND | 179 | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 121 | 19 | 1 | ND | 141 | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 154 | 21 | 1 | ND | 176 | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 157 | 21 | 1 | ND | 179 | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 142 | 21 | 1 | ND | 164 | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 142 | 20 | 1 | ND | 163 | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | | | | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 182 | 9 | 2 | ND | 193 | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | | | | | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 140 | 7 | · 1 | ND | 148 | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | | | | | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 214 | 11 | <] | ND | 225 | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | | | | | | |

| TABLE A | 13. Two | Day Tri | nalometh | ane Co | ncentrations |
|---------|---------|-----------|----------|--------|--------------|
| | in | Chlorinat | ted Raw | Water | Samples |

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | |) |
|---------|-----------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 154 | 14 | ND* | ND | 168 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 155 | 13 | 1 | ND | 169 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 195 | 16 | 1 | ND | 212 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 203 | 14 | <] | ND | 217 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 167 | 15 | 1 | ND | 183 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 163 | 17 | 1 | ND | 181 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 159 | 21 | 1 | ND | 181 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 163 | 22 | 1 | ND | 186 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 162 | 22 | 1 | ND | 185 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 166 | 24 | 1 | ND | 191 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | | | | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 174 | 22 | 1 | ND | 197 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 154 | 22 | 1 | ND | 177 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 178 | 23 | 1 | ND | 202 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 157 | 19 | 1 | ND | 177 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 163 | 15 | 1 | ND | 179 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 199 | 16 | 1 | ND | 216 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 258 | 13 | 1 | ND | 272 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 235 | 12 | 2 | ND | 249 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 144 | 7 |] | ND | 152 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 221 | 13 |] | ND | 235 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 229 | 13 | 2 | ND | 244 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 193 | 11 | 1 | ND | 205 |

| TABLE A4. | Four-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations | in |
|-----------|--|----|
| | Chlorinated Raw Water Samples | |

| | Day of | T | Trihalomethane Concentration (μ g/l) | | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------|---|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 181 | 15 | <] | ND* | 196 | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 203 | 15 | 1 | ND | 219 | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 196 | 15 | ND | ND | 211 | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 205 | 15 | 1 | ND | 221 | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 185 | 15 | 1 | ND | 201 | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 175 | 13 | <] | ND | 188 | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 143 | 15 | 1 | ND | 159 | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 164 | 24 | 1 | ND | 189 | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 169 | 24 | 1 | ND | 194 | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 195 | 24 | 1 | ND | 220 | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 182 | 23 | 1 | ND | 206 | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 156 | 24 | 1 | ND | 181 | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 165 | 25 | 1 | ND | 191 | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 166 | 23 | 1 | ND | 190 | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 189 | 24 | 1 | ND | 214 | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 176 | 22 | 1 | ND | 199 | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 214 | 21 | 2 | ND | 237 | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 181 | 25 | 1 | ND | 207 | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 197 | 20 | 1 | ND | 218 | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 241 | 13 | ٦ | ND | 255 | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 237 | 19 | ١ | ND | 257 | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 150 | 7 | 1 | ND | 158 | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 234 | 14 | 2 | ND | 250 | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 208 | 14 | 1 | ND | 223 | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 231 | 12 | 1 | ND | 244 | |

| TABLE A5. | Seven-Day | Trihalometha | ane Concentration | s (THMFP) |
|-----------|------------|--------------|-------------------|-----------|
| | in Chlorin | ated Raw Wa | ter Samples | |

| | Day of | Т | rihalomethane | Concentrat | ion $(\mu g/1)$ |) |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | СНСТЗ | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 10 | 1 | ND* | ND | 11 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 13 | 2 | ND | ND | 15 |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 15 | 3 | ND | ND | 18 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 15 | 5 | ND | ND | 20 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 22 | 5 | ND | ND | 20 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 25 | 4 | <] | ND | 20 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 17 | 4 | ND | ND | 21 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 15 | 4 | ND | ND | 10 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 15 | 5 |] | ND | 21 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 22 | 4 | ND | ND | 26 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 26 | 5 | <] | ND | 20 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 38 | 5 | <] | ND | /13 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 29 | 6 | <] | ND | 35 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 46 | 6 | <] | ND | 52 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 41 | 5 | <] | ND | 46 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 45 | 5 | 1 | ND | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 32 | 4 | 1 | ND | 37 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 47 | 8 | 11 | 4 | 69 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 41 | 5 | ND | ND. | 46 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 77 | 5 | 3 | ND | 85 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 97 | 4 | 5 | ND | 106 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 106 | 4 | 4 | ND | 114 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 100 | 4 | 2 | ND | 106 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 84 | 4 | <] | ND | 88 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 110 | 5 | <1 | ND | 115 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 83 | 3 | 1 | ND | 87 |

| TABLE A6. | Instantaneous | Trihalor | nethane Cor | ncentratio | ons in |
|-----------|----------------|----------|-------------|------------|---------|
| | Chlorinated 2- | -gpm GAC | Contactor | Effluent | Samples |

| Date | Day of Operation | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| | | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 20 | 5 |] | ND* | 26 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 37 | 10 | 2 | ND | 49 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 44 | 11 | 1 | ND | 56 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 65 | 12 | 3 | ND | 80 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 58 | 12 | 1 | ND | 71 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 51 | 12 | 2 | ND | 65 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 55 | 9 | ND | ND | 64 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 44 | 10 | 1 | ND | 55 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 62 | 10 | 1 | ND | 73 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 68 | 11 | 1 | ND | 80 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 95 | 14 | I | ND | 110 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 89 | 18 | 2 | ND | 109 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 109 | 17 | 1 | ND | 127 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 107 | 14 | 1 | ND | 122 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 92 | 16 | I | ND | 109 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 73 | 13 | 1 | ND | 87 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 83 | 14 | 1 | ND | 98 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 120 | 13 | 1 | ND | 134 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 105 | 10 | 2 | ND | 117 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 163 | 7 | 1 | ND | 171 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 207 | 8 | 1 | ND | 216 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 164 | 9 | 1 | ND | 174 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 158 | 8 | 1 | ND | 167 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 159 | 8 | 1 | ND | 168 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 179 | 8 | 1 | ND | 188 |

TABLE A7. One-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 2-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples
| | Day of | | Trihalomethane | Concentra | tion $(\mu g/1)$ | |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------|---------------------|-------------------|----------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 180 | 14 | 1 | ND* | 105 |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | 195 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 59 | 13 | 4 | ND | 76 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | 70 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 80 | 14 | 5 | ND | 00 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | 33 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 72 | 12 | 1 | ND | 0E |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 70 | 12 | 1 | | 00 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 72 | 12 | 1 | ND | 05 05 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | | | | | 00 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 92 | 15 | 1 | ND | 100 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 96 | 17 | 2 | ND | 100 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 86 | 15 | - | ND | 110 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 91 | 11 | 1 | ND | 102 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 109 | 17 | 1 | ND | 103 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 77 | 15 | 1 | ND | 02 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 99 | 16 | 1 | ND | 93 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | 110 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | | | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 164 | 9 | 1 | ND | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | | | | | 1/4 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 150 | 9 | 1 | ND | 160 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | | | | | 100 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 185 | 10 | 1 | ND | 106 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | | | | | |

TABLE A8. Two-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 2-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | | Tri | halomethane | Concentra | tion (µg/1) | |
|---------|-----------|-------|-----|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | ND* | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 56 | | 12 | 5 | ND | 73 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 66 | | 12 | 2 | ND | 80 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 96 | | 13 | 1 | ND | 110 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 85 | | 13 | 1 | ND | 99 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 87 | | 13 | 1 | ND | 101 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 75 | | 14 | 2 | ND | 91 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 82 | | 14 | 2 | ND | 9 8 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 93 | | 15 | 2 | ND | 110 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 106 | | 16 | 1 | ND | 123 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 91 | | 18 | 2 | ND | 111 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 130 | | 18 | 1 | ND | 149 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 113 | | 17 |] | ND | 131 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 125 | | 18 | 1 | ND | 144 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 97 | | 18 | 2 | ND | 117 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 107 | | 13 | ND | ND | 120 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 165 | | 13 | <] | ND | 178 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 224 | | 11 | 1 | ND | 236 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 210 | | 11 | 1 | ND | 222 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 145 | | 8 | 1 | ND | 154 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 195 | | 11 | 1 | ND | 207 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 209 | | 11 | 1 | ND | 221 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 172 | | 10 | 1 | ND | 183 |

TABLE A9. Four-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 2-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration ($\mu g/1$) | | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|--|---------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | | |
| 6-27-79 |] | 53 | 8 | 4 | ND* | 65 | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 203 | 15 | <] | ND | 108 | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 84 | 15 | 4 | ND | 103 | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 100 | 16 | 3 | ND | 110 | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 95 | 15 | 3 | ND | 113 | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | | | | | | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 80 | 17 | 3 | ND | 100 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 98 | 17 | 1 | ND | 116 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 87 | 16 | 2 | ND | 105 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 93 | 16 | - 2 | ND | 103 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 106 | 15 | 2 | ND | 123 | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 106 | 18 | 1 | ND | 125 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 107 | 21 | 2 | ND | 120 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 120 | 17 | 1 | ND | 130 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 137 | 18 | 1 | ND | 156 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 124 | 17 | 1 | ND | 142 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 120 | 15 | 2 | ND | 142 | | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | | | | | 157 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 159 | 13 | <1 | ND | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 216 | 10 | <] | ND | 226 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 196 | 11 | -1 | ND | 220 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 161 | 8 | 1 | ND | 170 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 204 | 12 | 1 | ND | 217 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 196 | 11 | , 1 | ND | 209 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 189 | 8 | 1 | ND | 198 | | |

TABLE AlO. Seven-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations (THMFP) in Chlorinated 2-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (μ g/l) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|---|---------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 13 | 2 | <] | ND* | 15 | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 24 | 3 | ND | ND | 27 | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 38 | 6 | ND | ND | 44 | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 48 | 5 | ND | ND | 53 | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 74 | 6 | 3 | ND | 83 | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 88 | 6 | ND | ND | 94 | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 63 | 6 | 4 | ND | 73 | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 46 | 5 | ND | ND | 51 | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 72 | 7 | 1 | ND | 80 | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 63 | 6 | <1 | ND | 99 | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 69 | 6 | 1 | ND | 76 | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 72 | 6 | 1 | ND | 79 | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 71 | 7 | 1 | ND | 79 | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 64 | 6 | I | ND | 71 | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 63 | 7 | ND | ND | 70 | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 64 | 6 | <1 | ND | 70 | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 71 | 5 | <1 | ND | 76 | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 67 | 8 | 5 | ND | 80 | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 65 | 5 | ND | ND | 90 | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 89 | 5 | 4 | ND | 98 | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 99 | 4 | 6 | ND | 109 | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 109 | 4 | 3 | ND | 116 | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 118 | 3 | 2 | ND | 123 | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 86 | 3 | <] | ND | 89 | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 138 | 5 | <] | ND | 143 | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 77 | 3 | <] | ND | 80 | |

| TABLE A11. | Instantaneou | is Trił | nalor | nethane | Cor | centrati | ons | in |
|------------|--------------|---------|-------|---------|-----|----------|-----|-------|
| | Chlorinated | 4-gpm | GAC | Contac | tor | Effluent | Sar | nples |

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (μ g/1) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|---|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|
| Date | Operation | снс13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 45 | 8 | ND* | ND | 53 | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 108 | 12 | 2 | ND | 122 | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 129 | 13 | 3 | ND | 145 | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 138 | 15 | 3 | ND | 156 | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 125 | 14 | 3 | ND | 142 | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 131 | 14 |] | ND | 146 | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 107 | 13 | 1 | ND | 121 | |
| 7-26-79 | . 30 | 117 | 15 | 1 | ND | 127 | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 116 | 15 |] | ND | 133 | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 110 | 14 | 1 | ND | 125 | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 132 | 18 | 1 | ND | 125 | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 129 | 18 | 1 | ND | 1/19 | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 134 | 18 | 1 | ND | 153 | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 132 | 17 | 1 | ND | 155 | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 110 | 16 | 1 | ND | 100 | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 123 | 16 | 1 | ND | 140 | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 117 | 17 | 1 | ND | 135 | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 164 | 16 | 1 | ND | 190 | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 119 | 10 | 5 | | 13/ | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 181 | 8 | 1 | ND | 200 | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 211 | 9 | 1 | ND | 221 | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 169 | 9 | 1 | ND | 170 | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 168 | 9 | 1 | ND | 179 | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 158 | 7 | 1 | ND | 166 | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 162 | 7 | 1 | ND | 170 | |

| TABLE A12. | One-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations | in | Chlorinated |
|------------|---------------------------------------|----|-------------|
| | 4-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples | | |

| | Dav of | | Trihalomethane | e Concentrat | ion (µg/1) | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------------------|----------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|--|
| Date | Operation | снс1 ₃ | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | | |
| 6-27-79 | I | | | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 120 | 11 | 3 | ND* | 134 | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 1.51 | 15 | 3 | ND | 169 | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | 105 | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 152 | 18 | 3 | ND | 173 | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | 175 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 119 | 15 | 1 | ND | 135 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 139 | 17 | 1 | ND | 155 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 131 | 18 | 1 | ND | 157 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | | | | | | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 129 | 19 | 1 | ND | 1/0 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 139 | 20 | 1 | ND | 140 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 103 | 17 | 1 | ND | 121 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 128 | 17 | 1 | ND | 146 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 127 | 16 | T | ND | 140 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 117 | 16 | 1 | ND | 13/ | | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 141 | 14 | 1 | ND | 154 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | 130 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | | | | | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 161 | 9 | 1 | ND | 171 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | | | | | 171 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 149 | 9 | 1 | ND | 150 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | | | | | 159 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 178 | 10 | 1 | ND | 100 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | | | | | 109 | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

TABLE A13. Two-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 4-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (μ g/l) | | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|---|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 58 | 14 | ND* | ND | 72 | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 113 | 14 | 2 | ND | 129 | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 160 | 17 | 2 | ND | 179 | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 177 | 17 | 3 | ND | 197 | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 156 | 17 | 1 | ND | 174 | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 166 | 19 | 1 | ND | 186 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 141 | 15 | 1 | ND | 157 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 138 | 19 | 1 | ND | 158 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 138 | 19 | 1 | ND | 158 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 140 | 19 | 1 | ND | 160 | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 140 | 19 | 1 | ND | 160 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 130 | 22 | 1 | ND | 153 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 145 | 16 | 1 | ND | 162 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 134 | 18 | 1 | ND | 153 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 141 | 19 | 1 | ND | 161 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 147 | 22 | 1 | ND | 171 | | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 141 | 14 | 1 | ND | 156 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 166 | 24 | 1 | ND | 191 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 174 | 13 | 1 | ND | 188 | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 240 | 11 | 1 | ND | 252 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 210 | 11 | 1 | ND | 222 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 154 | 9 | 1 | ND | 164 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 208 | 13 | 1 | ND | 222 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 214 | 11 | 1 | ND | 226 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 172 | 10 | 1 | ND | 183 | | |

| TABLE A14. | Four-Day Tri | ihalome | ethar | ne Concentr | ations in | า |
|------------|--------------|---------|-------|-------------|-----------|---------|
| | Chlorinated | 4-gpm | GAC | Contactor | Effluent | Samples |

| | Day of | Т | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------|-------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------------|--|--|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | | | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 83 | 11 | 3 | ND* | 97 | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 161 | 16 | 3 | ND | 180 | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 145 | 11 | 3 | ND | 159 | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 180 | 15 | 2 | ND | 197 | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 162 | 17 | 3 | ND | 182 | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | | | | | 102 | | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 139 | 17 | 1 | ND | 167 | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 139 | 19 | 1 | ND | 150 | | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 148 | 21 | 1 | ND | 139 | | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 145 | 21 | 1 | ND | 1/0 | | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 151 | 18 | 1 | ND | 107 | | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 133 | 20 | 1 | ND | 152 | | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 145 | 22 | 1 | | 100 | | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 138 | 18 | 1 | ND | 100 | | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 154 | 20 | J | ND | 107 | | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 138 | 17 | 1 | ND | 175 | | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 181 | 17 | 1 | ND | 100 | | | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | | | | | 199 | | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 186 | 17 | <1 | ND | 202 | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 233 | 11 | 1 | | 203 | | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 194 | 11 | 1 | | 245 | | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 165 | 9 | 1 | | 206 | | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 208 | 13 | י | ND | 1/5 | | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 188 | 10 | 1 | ט א סא | 222 | | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 215 | 10 | 1 | ND | 200 226 | | | |

TABLE A15.Seven-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations (THMFP) in
Chlorinated 4-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | Trihalomethane Concentration (µg/1) | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|--|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 28 | 3 | <] | ND* | 31 | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | | | | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 74 | 5 | 3 | ND | 82 | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 64 | 6 | 3 | ND | 73 | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 50 | 5 | 3 | ND | 58 | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 79 | 7 | 1 | ND | 87 | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 67 | 6 | 1 | ND | 74 | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 76 | 7 | <] | ND | 83 | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 71 | 6 | <] | ND | 77 | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 75 | 7 | <] | ND | 82 | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 70 | 6 | 1 | ND | 77 | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 68 | 7 | 1 | ND | 76 | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 68 | 5 | 1 | ND | 74 | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 78 | 5 | <] | ND | 83 | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 92 | 8 | 6 | 2 | 108 | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 70 | 5 | ND | ND | 75 | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 101 | 6 | 4 | ND | 111 | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 115 | 4 | 6 | ND | 125 | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 112 | 4 | 3 | ND | 119 | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 120 | 4 | 3 | ND | 127 | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 93 | 4 | <] | ND | 97 | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 121 | 5 | 1 | ND | 127 | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 89 | 3 | <1 | ND | 92 | |

TABLE Al6. Instantaneous Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 6-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | Т | rihalomethan | e Concentrat | ion (µg/l) | |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | СНСТЗ | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 100 | 13 | 2 | ND* | 115 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | | | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 113 | 14 | 3 | ND | 130 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 122 | 13 | 1 | ND | 136 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 100 | 11 | 1 | ND | 112 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 125 | 13 | 1 | ND | 139 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 120 | 16 | <1 | ND | 136 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 113 | 16 | 1 | ND | 130 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 127 | 16 | I | ND | 144 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 133 | 19 | 1 | ND | 153 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 141 | 16 | 1 | ND | 158 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 135 | 18 | 1 | ND | 154 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 111 | 16 | 1 | ND | 128 |
| 8-22-79 | 56 | 132 | 16 | ٦ | ND | 149 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 114 | 16 | 1 | ND | 131 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 172 | 19 | 1 | ND | 192 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 119 | 12 | 5 | ND | 136 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 179 | 8 | 1 | ND | 188 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 219 | 9 | 1 | ND | 229 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 172 | . 9 | 1 | ND | 182 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 175 | 9 | 1 | ND | 185 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 177 | 8 | 1 | ND | 186 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 178 | 8 | 1 | ND | 187 |

TABLE A17. One-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations in Chlorinated 6-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Day of | 7 | [rihalomethane | e Concentrat | ion $(\mu g/1)$ | |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC12Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | TTHM |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | | | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 136 | 16 | 3 | ND* | 155 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 118 | 16 | 1 | ND | 135 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 147 | 16 | 1 | ND | 164 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 137 | 16 | 1 | ND | 154 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | | | | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 128 | 18 | 1 | ND | 147 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 143 | 20 | 1 | ND | 164 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 106 | 18 | 1 | ND | 125 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 130 | 19 | 1 | ND | 150 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 130 | 17 | 1 | ND | 148 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 128 | 17 | 1 | ND | 146 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 132 | 17 | 1 | ND | 150 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | | | | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 172 | 9 | 2 | ND | 183 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | | | | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 171 | 10 | 1 | ND | 182 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | | | | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 200 | 10 | 1 | ND | 211 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | | | | | |

| TABLE A18. | Two-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations | in | Chlorinated |
|------------|---------------------------------------|----|-------------|
| | 6-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples | | |

| | Day of | | Trihalomethane | Concentrat | ion (µg/l) | |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | СНСТЗ | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | ТТНМ |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | | | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 142 | 15 | 1 | ND* | 158 |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | | | | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 140 | 15 | 1 | ND | 156 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 143 | 20 | 1 | | 150 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 139 | 18 | 1 | ND | 104 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 141 | 19 | 1 | ND | 150 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 139 | 19 | 1 | ND | 101 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 130 | 19 | 1 | ND | 159 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 149 | 17 | 1 | | 150 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 138 | 19 | 1 | | 10/ |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 145 | 19 | . 1 | | 158 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 141 | 19 | 1 | | 105 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 142 | 14 | 1 | ND | 101 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | 157 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 187 | 16 | 1 | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 241 | 12 | 1 | | 204 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 217 | 11 | 1 | | 254 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 155 | 8 | , 1 | | 229 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 210 | 12 | ı I | | 164 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 218 | 10 | , I | טא תוא | 223 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 181 | .0 | 1 | | 229 |
| | | .01 | | 1 | UN | 193 |

| TABLE A1 | 9. F | our-Day | Trihalon | nethan | e Concentr | ations ir | າ |
|----------|------|-----------|----------|--------|------------|-----------|---------|
| | С | hlorinate | ed 6-gpm | 1 GAC | Contactor | Effluent | Samples |

| | Day of | | Trihalomethane | Concentrat | ion (µg/l) | |
|---------|-----------|-------|----------------------|---------------------|-------------------|------|
| Date | Operation | CHC13 | CHC1 ₂ Br | CHC1Br ₂ | CHBr ₃ | ТТНМ |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 146 | 16 | 4 | ND* | 166 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | | | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | | | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | | | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | | | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | | | | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 137 | 18 | 1 | ND | 156 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 140 | 19 | 1 | ND | 160 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 152 | 22 | 1 | ND | 175 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 147 | 20 | 1 | ND | 168 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 155 | 19 | 1 | ND | 165 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 134 | 20 | 1 | ND | 155 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 146 | 21 | 1 | ND | 168 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 138 | 17 | 1 | ND | 156 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 159 | 21 | 1 | ND | 181 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 148 | 19 | ۱ | ND | 168 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 194 | 18 | 1 | ND | 213 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | | | | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | | | | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 182 | 16 | 1 | ND | 199 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 228 | 12 | 2 | ND | 242 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 201 | 12 | 1 | ND | 214 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 176 | 8 | 1 | ND | 185 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 224 | 12 | 1 | ND | 237 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 199 | 11 | 1 | ND | 211 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 222 | 11 | 2 | ND | 235 |

TABLE A20. Seven-Day Trihalomethane Concentrations (THMFP) in Chlorinated 6-gpm GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

APPENDIX B

RESULTS OF CHEMICAL, PHYSICAL, AND BIOLOGICAL ANALYSES OF RAW WATER INFLUENT AND GAC (WESTVACO NUCHAR WV-G AND WV-DC) CONTACTOR EFFLUENT SAMPLES

| | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | - | Total Organic Carbon (mg/l) | | | | |
|---------|---------------------------------------|------|-----------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent | | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | | | | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 7.6 | 1.4 | 3.2 | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 7.8 | 1.7 | 4.1 | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 7.5 | 1.4 | 3.9 | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 6.7 | 1.6 | 4.0 | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 6.6 | 1.6 | 4.2 | 3.8 | | |
| 7-19-79 | 22 | 6.8 | 1.5 | 4.4 | 4.2 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 6.0 | 2.0 | 4.5 | 4.5 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 6.0 | 1.5 | 4.2 | 4.5 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 6.0 | 1.7 | 4.3 | 4.6 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 6.0 | 2.0 | 4.3 | 4.6 | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 5.6 | 2.5 | 4.5 | 4.6 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 5.9 | 2.5 | 4.7 | 4.9 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 5.6 | 3.0 | 4.3 | 4.5 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 5.5 | 3.4 | 4.3 | 4.6 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 5.3 | 2.9 | 3.8 | 4.2 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 5.5 | 2.3 | 4.2 | 4.8 | | |
| 8-26-79 | 61 | 4.9 | 2.7 | 4.3 | 4.5 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 5.3 | 2.8 | 4.2 | 3.7 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 7.0 | 4.4 | 5.6 | 5.8 | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 10.3 | 7.4 | 8.7 | 9.1 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 10.0 | | 8.2 | 8.6 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 9.0 | 6.5 | 7.4 | 8.1 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 9.3 | 6.7 | 8.0 | 8.4 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 8.2 | 6.1 | 8.1 | 7.6 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 8.8 | 6.8 | 7.5 | 7.5 | | |

TABLE B1. Total Organic Carbon Concentrations in Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | | Chlorine Demand (mg/l) | | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 10.0 | 7.5 | 8.3 | 9.0 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 11.1 | 7.9 | 8.5 | 4.2 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 10.2 | 11.5 | 12.7 | 12.9 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 10.7 | 9.6 | 10.0 | 9.6 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 9.3 | 8.5 | 8.7 | 8.9 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 10.0 | 8.1 | 8.7 | 9.1 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 12.9 | 12.9 | 10.6 | 11.5 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | | 9.3 | 9.9 | 15.0 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 12.2 | 10.2 | 10.5 | 11.0 | | |

TABLE B2. Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Sample Chlorine Demands

| | | рН | | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|-----|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent | | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 6.7 | 7.2 | 7.2 | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 6.9 | 7.3 | 7.2 | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 6.9 | 7.1 | 7.0 | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 6.7 | 7.2 | 7.1 | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 7.0 | 7.2 | 7.1 | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 6.7 | 7.1 | 7.0 | 6.8 | | |
| 7-18-79 | 22 | 7.0 | 7.2 | 7.1 | 7.2 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 7.1 | 7.4 | 7.2 | 7.1 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 6.9 | 7.2 | 7.1 | 7.2 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 7.1 | 7.4 | 7.2 | 7.2 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 7.2 | 7.4 | 7.3 | 7.3 | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 7.2 | 7.3 | 7.3 | 7.2 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 7.3 | 7.6 | 7.4 | 7.4 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 7.0 | 7.2 | 7.2 | 7.2 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 7.0 | 7.3 | 7.2 | 7.2 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 6.9 | 7.1 | 7.1 | 7.0 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 7.4 | 7.5 | 7.4 | 7.3 | | |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 7.0 | 7.3 | 7.1 | 7.2 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 7.2 | 7.5 | 7.3 | 7.2 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 7.1 | 7.4 | 7.2 | 7.2 | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 7.0 | 7.2 | 7.0 | 6.9 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 6.9 | 7.0 | 6.8 | 6.9 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 7.0 | 7.2 | 7.0 | 7.0 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 7.2 | 7.2 | 7.2 | 7.0 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 6.9 | 7.3 | 7.0 | 7.0 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 7.0 | 7.1 | 7.0 | 7.0 | | |

TABLE B3. pH of Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

| | Turbidity (NTU) | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 5.2 | 4.2 | 4.7 | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 5.1 | 3.7 | 4.0 | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 8.3 | 5.1 | 6.4 | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 9.0 | 4.3 | 4.9 | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 5.0 | 2.7 | 3.5 | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 7.0 | 4.1 | 4.0 | 4.8 |
| 7-19-79 | 22 | 8.0 | 3.5 | 4.6 | 5.0 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 6.0 | 3.1 | 4.1 | 3.4 |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 4.7 | 2.1 | 2.7 | 3.0 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 7.5 | 2.8 | 3.5 | 4.0 |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 5.3 | 2.5 | 3.2 | 3.4 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 7.0 | 2.8 | 4.6 | 4.5 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 7.3 | 2.4 | 6.4 | 6.4 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 7.1 | 2.4 | 5.4 | 5.3 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 6.5 | 2.4 | 3.6 | 4.1 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 5.8 | 1.6 | 2.7 | 4.0 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 5.5 | 1.6 | 3.5 | 4.7 |
| 8-26-79 | 61 | 3.6 | 2.6 | 2.2 | 6.4 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 9.8 | 2.4 | 13.0 | 16.0 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 9.7 | 7.0 | 8.8 | 9.3 |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 30.0 | 21.0 | 30.0 | 27.0 |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 18.0 | 21.0 | 16.0 | 20.0 |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 9.5 | 6.8 | 8.0 | 10.0 |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 6.7 | 5.1 | 6.0 | 6.1 |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 65.0 | 41.0 | 56.0 | 57.0 |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 29.0 | 23.0 | 26.0 | 26.0 |

| TABLE B4. | Turbidity Measurements of Raw Water Influen |
|-----------|---|
| | and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples |

| | | True Color Units | | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|--|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent | | |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 65 | 25 | 35 | | | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 80 | 35 | 45 | | | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 65 | 35 | 45 | | | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 65 | 35 | 45 | | | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 65 | 35 | 45 | | | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 65 | 35 | 45 | 55 | | |
| 7-19-79 | 22 | 55 · | 25 | 45 | 35 | | |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 55 | 30 | 45 | 45 | | |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 55 | 25 | 45 | 45 | | |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 55 | 25 | 35 | 45 | | |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 45 | 25 | 35 | 35 | | |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 45 | 30 | 40 | 40 | | |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 45 | 25 | 40 | 35 | | |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 45 | 30 | 35 | 25 | | |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 35 | 30 | 35 | 40 | | |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 45 | 30 | 20 | 20 | | |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 55 | 25 | 45 | 45 | | |
| 8-26-79 | 61 | 40 | 30 | 35 | 45 | | |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 50 | 35 | 45 | 45 | | |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 90 | 55 | 70 | 90 | | |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 140 | 120 | 110 | 110 | | |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 130 | 110 | 110 | 110 | | |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 110 | 90 | 110 | 110 | | |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 110 | 100 | 110 | 110 | | |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 130 | 110 | 120 | 120 | | |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 130 | 110 | 110 | 110 | | |

| TABLE B5. | True Color Measurements of Raw Water |
|-----------|---|
| | Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples |

| | | Threshold Odor_Number/Characterization | | | |
|---------|---------------------|--|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 50M* | 2DF** | 4Df | |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 24M | 8Df | 8Df | |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 35M | 4M | 6M | |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 17M | 4M | 4M | |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 35M | 4M | 6M | |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 35Df | 6Df | 8M | 8Df |
| 7-19-79 | 22 | 17M | ЗМ | 3M | 1.4M |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 17M | 2M | 8M | 2M |
| 7-26-79 | 30 | 4M | 1M | 17M | 2M |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 8Df | 1.4Df | 3Df | 3Df |
| 8-1-79 | 36 | 12M | 3M | 3M | 3M |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 8D f | 1Df | 1.4Df | 2Df |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 35M | 2Df | 3Df | 8Df |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 17M | 1.4M | 4M | 2M |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 50Df | 4Df | 4Df | 3Df |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 17Df | 24Df | 4Df | 3Df |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 24M | 1.4M | 4M | 6M |
| 8-26-79 | 61 | 35M | 12M | 24M | 12M |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 12Df | 1Df | 4Df | 6Df |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 6M | 4M | 4M | 50M |
| 9-9-79 | 75 | 17M | 4M | 3M | 4M |
| 9-12-79 | 78 | 12M | ١M | 4M | 6M |
| 9-16-79 | 82 | 12Bs | 1.4M | 4M | 6Df |
| 9-19-79 | 85 | 12M | 12M | 2Bs*** | 4Bs |
| 9-23-79 | 89 | 50Bs | 12Bs | 4M | 4M |
| 9-26-79 | 92 | 8M | 12M | 2M | 2M |

| TABLE B6. | Threshold | Odor Numb | ber a | nd (| Characteriz | ation of | |
|-----------|-----------|-----------|-------|------|-------------|----------|---------|
| | Raw Water | Influent | and | GAC | Contactor | Effluent | Samples |

*Musty **Disagreeable, Fishy ***Balsamic, Sweet

| | | | Standard P | late Count/ml | |
|---------|---------------------|-------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Date | Day of Operation | Raw | 2-gpm Effluent | 4-gpm Effluent | 6-gpm Effluent |
| 8-6-79 | 41 | 83 | 89 | 260 | 230 |
| 8-13-79 | 48 | 510 | 1800 | 1500 | 1700 |
| 8-20-79 | 55 | 2100 | 1900 | 3900 | 3800 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 3200 | 5500 | 8900 | 18000 |
| 9-4-79 | 70 | 2900 | 2000 | 2900 | 2700 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 2900 | 2800 | 2100 | 1600 |
| 9-10-79 | 76 | 6200 | 8300 | 3800 | 3800 |
| 9-17-79 | 83 | 1200 | 1200 | 1600 | 2200 |
| 9-23-79 | 90 | 61000 | 12000 | 42000 | 82000 |
| | | | Total Co | liform/100 ml | |
| 8-6-79 | 41 | 65 | 40 | 60 | 60 |
| 8-13-79 | 48 | 240 | 20 | 47 | 47 |
| 8-20-79 | 55 | 30 | 6 | 6 | 6 |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 100 | 100 | 0 | 100 |
| 9-4-79 | 70 | 180 | 100 | 0 | 50 |
| 9-5-79 | 71 | 750 | 150 | 250 | 100 |
| 9-10-79 | 76 | 1500 | 500 | 0 | 6500 |
| 9-17-79 | 83 | 100 | 260 | 245 | 440 |
| 9-23-79 | 90 | 16800 | 4000 | 12200 | 27600 |

TABLE B7. Standard Plate Count and Total Coliform Results for Raw Water Influent and GAC Contactor Effluent Samples

APPENDIX C

RESERVOIR WATER QUALITY DATA

| | | Chlorophyll-a (ug/l) | | | | |
|---------|---------------------|----------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--|
| Date | Day of Operation | Station RE10 | Station RE05 | Station REO1 | 3-Station* Average | |
| 6-26-79 | | 12.0 | 5.8 | 11.0 | 9.6 | |
| 7-3-79 | 7 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 12.0 | 7.9 | |
| 7-10-79 | 14 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 17.0 | 9.5 | |
| 7-17-79 | 21 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 5.8 | |
| 7-31-79 | 35 | 12.0 | 12.0 | 5.8 | 10.0 | |
| 8-7-79 | 42 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 5.8 | |
| 8-14-79 | 49 | 5.8 | 29.0 | 5.8 | 13.5 | |
| 9-11-79 | 77 | 17.0 | 5.8 | 5.8 | 9.5 | |
| 9-18-79 | 84 | 5.8 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 1.9 | |
| 9-25-79 | 91 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | |

Occoquan Reservoir Chlorophyll-a Concentrations During the Period TABLE C1. of Operation

*Occoquan Watershed Monitoring Program Sample Stations:

R 10 Jacob's Rock R 05 Sandy Run R 01 Dam

| Date | Day of Operation | Algae Average Count/ml | Dominant Genus |
|---------|---------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|
| 6-25-79 | | 951 | Scenedesmus, Sphaerocystis |
| 7-2-79 | 6 | 1187 | Scenedesmus, Sphaerocystis |
| 7-9-79 | 13 | 800 | Scenedesmus, Sphaerocystis |
| 7-6-79 | 20 | 1265 | Sphaerocystis |
| 7-24-79 | 28 | 4190 | Sphaerocystis |
| 7-31-79 | 35 | 8323 | Scenedesmus, Sphaerocystis |
| 8-7-79 | 42 | 2088 | Sphaerocystis |
| 8-13-79 | 48 | 2216 | Golenkinia |
| 8-20-79 | 55 | 1051 | Scenedesmus, Crucigenia |
| 8-27-79 | 61 | 1316 | Golenkinia |
| 9-10-79 | 76 | 495 | Anabaena, Aphanizomenon |
| 9-17-79 | 83 | 382 | |
| | | | |

TABLE C2. Occoquan Reservoir Algae Counts for the Period of Operation

| Date | Day of Operation | Rainfall (inches) | Date | Day of Operation | Rainfall (inches) |
|---------|---------------------|----------------------|---------|---------------------|----------------------|
| 6-24-79 | | 0.09 | 8-11-79 | 46 | 1.15 |
| 6-28-79 | 2 | 0.05 | 8-12-79 | 47 | 1.12 |
| 6-30-79 | 4 | 0.57 | 8-19-79 | 54 | 0.55 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 0.16 | 8-21-79 | 56 | 0.38 |
| 7-4-79 | . 8 | 0.48 | 8-24-79 | 59 | 0.35 |
| 7-10-79 | 14 | 0.01 | 8-25-79 | 60 | 0.09 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 0.01 | 8-26-79 | 61 | 0.56 |
| 7-12-79 | 16 | 0.01 | 8-27-79 | 62 | 1.75 |
| 7-13-79 | 17 | 0.13 | 8-29-79 | 64 | 0.01 |
| 7-14-79 | 18 | 0.05 | 9-2-79 | 68 | 0.03 |
| 7-21-79 | 25 | 0.05 | 9-3-79 | 69 | 0.27 |
| 7-23-79 | 27 | 0.02 | 9-5-79 | 71 | 2.98 |
| 7-24-79 | 28 | 0.05 | 9-6-79 | 72 | 0.04 |
| 7-25-79 | 29 | 0.06 | 9-7-79 | 73 | 0.06 |
| 7-28-79 | 32 | 0.66 | 9-13-79 | 79 | 0.34 |
| 7-29-79 | 33 | 0.03 | 9-21-79 | 87 | 3.42 |
| 8-2-79 | 37 | 0.10 | 9-22-79 | 88 | 0.52 |
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 0.14 | 9-28-79 | | 0.07 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 0.40 | 9-29-79 | | 0.03 |
| 8-10-79 | 45 | 0.08 | 9-30-79 | | 0.24 |

TABLE C3. Dam Area Rainfall Measurements During the Period of Operation

| Date | Day of Operation | Reservoir Elevation (ft) | Date | Day of Operation | Reservoir Elevation (ft) |
|---------|---------------------|--------------------------------|---------|---------------------|--------------------------------|
| 6-26-79 | | 120.0 | 7-16-79 | 20 | 119.7 |
| 6-27-79 | 1 | 120.0 | 7-17-79 | 21 | 119.6 |
| 6-28-79 | 2 | 120.0 | 7-18-79 | 22 | 119.6 |
| 6-29-79 | 3 | 119.9 | 7-19-79 | 23 | 119.5 |
| 6-30-79 | 4 | 119.9 | 7-20-79 | 24 | 119.4 |
| 7-1-79 | 5 | 120.0 | 7-21-79 | 25 | 119.3 |
| 7-2-79 | 6 | 120.1 | 7-22-79 | 26 | 119.3 |
| 7-3-79 | 7 | 120.1 | 7-23-79 | 27 | 119.2 |
| 7-4-79 | 8 | 120.0 | 7-24-79 | 28 | 119.1 |
| 7-5-79 | 9 | 120.1 | 7-25-79 | 29 | 119.1 |
| 7-6-79 | 10 | 120.0 | 7-26-79 | 30 | 119.1 |
| 7-7-79 | 11 | 120.0 | 7-27-79 | 31 | 119.0 |
| 7-8-79 | 12 | 120.0 | 7-28-79 | 32 | 118.9 |
| 7-9-79 | 13 | 119.9 | 7-29-79 | 33 | 118.9 |
| 7-10-79 | 14 | 119.9 | 7-30-79 | 34 | 119.1 |
| 7-11-79 | 15 | 119.8 | 7-31-79 | 35 | 119.3 |
| 7-12-79 | 16 | 119.7 | 8-1-79 | 36 | 119.4 |
| 7-13-79 | 17 | 119.7 | 8-2-79 | 37 | 119.5 |
| 7-14-79 | 18 | 119.6 | 8-3-79 | 38 | 120.1 |
| 7-15-79 | 19 | 119.6 | 8-4-79 | 39 | 120.3 |

TABLE C4. Occoquan Reservoir Elevation During Period of Operation

TABLE C4. (cont.)

| Date | Day of Operation | Reservoir Elevation (ft) | Date | Day of Operation | Reservoir Elevation (ft) |
|---------|---------------------|--------------------------------|---------|---------------------|--------------------------------|
| 8-5-79 | 40 | 120.2 | 9-1-79 | 67 | 120.0 |
| 8-6-79 | 41 | 120.0 | 9-2-79 | 68 | 119.8 |
| 8-7-79 | 42 | 120.0 | 9-3-79 | 69 | 119.5 |
| 8-8-79 | 43 | 119.9 | 9-4-79 | 70 | 119.0 |
| 8-9-79 | 44 | 119.9 | 9-5-79 | 71 | 118.6 |
| 8-10-79 | 45 | 119.8 | 9-6-79 | 72 | 123.9 |
| 8-11-79 | 46 | 119.8 | 9-7-79 | 73 | 123.4 |
| 8-12-79 | 47 | 119.9 | 9-8-79 | 74 | 121.0 |
| 8-13-79 | 48 | 120.5 | 9-9-79 | 75 | 120.6 |
| 8-14-79 | 49 | 120.4 | 9-10-79 | 76 | 120.3 |
| 8-15-79 | 50 | 120.1 | 9-11-79 | 77 | 120.1 |
| 8-16-79 | 51 | 120.1 | 9-12-79 | 78 | 120.1 |
| 8-17-79 | 52 | 120.0 | 9-13-79 | 79 | 120.1 |
| 8-18-79 | 53 | 120.0 | 9-14-79 | 80 | 119.8 |
| 8-19-79 | 54 | 119.9 | 9-15-79 | 81 | 119.7 |
| 8-20-79 | 55 | 120.0 | 9-16-79 | 82 | 119.6 |
| 8-21-79 | 56 | 120.1 | 9-17-79 | 83 | 119.3 |
| 8-22-79 | 57 | 120.4 | 9-18-79 | 84 | 119.0 |
| 8-23-79 | 58 | 120.2 | 9-19-79 | 85 | 118.6 |
| 8-24-79 | 59 | 119.9 | 9-20-79 | 86 | 118.2 |
| 8-25-79 | 60 | 120.4 | 9-21-79 | 87 | 117.8 |
| 8-26-79 | 61 | 121.1 | 9-22-79 | 88 | 121.9 |
| 8-27-79 | . 62 | 121.0 | 9-23-79 | 89 | 123.3 |
| 8-28-79 | 63 | 121.2 | 9-24-79 | 90 | 121.0 |
| 8-29-79 | 64 | 120.0 | 9-25-79 | 91 | 120.5 |
| 8-30-79 | 65 | 120.4 | 9-26-79 | 92 | 120.3 |
| 8-31-79 | 66 | 120.2 | 9-27-79 | | 120.2 |

VITA

Karen Blake Burnett Carter was born in Washington, D.C. on May 23, 1956 and raised in Falls Church, Virginia. She received a Bachelor of Science degree in Biology from George Mason University in 1977. She was employed as a member of the laboratory staff of the Fairfax County Water Authority in Lorton, Virginia, until September, 1979 when she entered Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University to pursue a Master of Science degree in Environmental Science and Engineering.

Karen B. Carter

GRANULAR ACTIVATED CARBON PRETREATMENT FOR THE

REMOVAL OF TRIHALOMETHANE PRECURSORS

by

Karen Blake Burnett Carter

(ABSTRACT)

Granular activated carbon (GAC) pretreatment was evaluated for the removal of trihalomethane (THM) precursors from a surface water supply, the Occoquan Reservoir, in northern Virginia. The carbon contactors were operated in the upflow mode at flow rates of 2, 4, and 6 gpm which provided empty bed contact times (EBCT) of 26, 13, and 6.6 minutes, respectively. Reservoir raw water quality data was collected to determine what relationship existed between these measurements and the trihalomethane formation potential (THMFP) of the reservoir water.

The results indicated that THM precursors, as measured by total organic carbon (TOC) and THMFP, could be removed from an untreated surface water supply by GAC contact. The degree to which THM precursors were removed was directly related to EBCT, the most effective being 26 minutes (2 gpm).

GAC contact appeared to be selective for the removal of those precursors responsible for instantaneous THM concentrations i.e., those produced within a thirty minute chlorine-contact period. Those precursors responsible for THM concentrations produced after thirty minutes and for up to seven days thereafter (herein designated THMFP) appeared to be associated either with particulate matter in the raw water or with larger molecular weight organic substances which were not well adsorbed by the carbon.

There were no discernible direct correlations between THMFP and the turbidity, color, TOC, chlorophyll-a concentration and algal populations in the raw water. Runoff from a rainstorm late in the period of study resulted in increases in raw water color, turbidity, and TOC concentrations, but it was impossible to determine which of these factors was responsible for the increased raw water THMFP that occurred at the same time.